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Few words will suffice to lay so simple a story as
the causes which led to the production of the Work
now before the public. In 1843 I undertook, at the
desire of the Stoddart and Conolly Committee, to

. ascertain the fate of these officers. It will, I trust,

appear that I have realized what I then undertook. I
claim no further merit than having kept my word to
them. They supplied me with pecuniary means to
undertake the journey. I have to thank the Foreign
Office for furthering the object I had in view, by all
points short of making me a British Envoy. The
exertions of the Envoy at Teheraun, it will be seen,
in procuring a letter from the Shah, saved my life. I
owe that, undoubtedly, twice to the friendly power of
Persia. It will be further fully apparent, from the
letters of Colonel Sheil, our Envoy at Teheraun, that
he dared not venture on writing to me, since that step
would probably have occasioned my death ; so that my
danger at Bokhara may be distinctly gathered from
that circumstance alone.

Our recent succefses in the East will, I entertain no
doubt, strike terror into the heart of the Ameer of Bo-
khara, whom we are fast approaching from Sinde and
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the Punjaub. By the renown of British arms I trust
that future Envoys will pass unhurt amid the wildest
tribes of the descendants of Timur and Ghengis Khan.
Of one thing I feel fully assured, that the hitherto im-
movable East is relaxing much of its usages and cus-
toms in favour of an advancing civilization. I feel that I
have been no mean pioneer to this progression, and that
I have taught the disciples of Muhammed, from the
lone Pilgrim of the Desert to the wisest Derveesh and
Mullah, the important principles of our faith in such a
manner as, from my long acquaintance with their feel-
ings, I felt most likely to gain attention. It will be
seen in these pages that, from the friendly understand-
ing between the Khaleefa of Mowr, myself, and Abbas
Kouli Khan, that the good and intelligent of all reli-
gions are aware of the deep necessity of not relaxing
the bonds of moral obligation, and at least unite on
that ground. It was my effort to show that Christi-
anity contained in her higher inducements to moral
practice than any existing religion ; and I have been
surprised to perceive the effect that our system has
produced on the wildest of the Tartar tribes by the
pure beauty of holiness. The East already recognises
the inspiration of a large portion of our eacred writings,
and has always assigned to the Founder of our faith a
high degree of reverence and attention. The intelli-
gent missionary has, consequently, this advantage in his
favour ; but men must be sent into the East of learning
and power, capable, by the dignity of their demeanour,
the grace of their manner, and the affability of their
address, to strike a people on whom conventional
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advantages are never lost. Very rarely indeed has
England sent out persons at all calculated to gain the
ear of Orientals, or to win any attention whatever.
Our great Societies are mistaken if they think that an
ordinary English Presbyter will do for such a purpose.
He must be one as well calculated to dine with Sir
Stratford Canning, as to submit to the privations of
the desert. He must be a gentleman in the drawing-
room, a scholar in his library, an apostle in his mission.
I am quite certain that without conciliating both his
countrymen and strangers, little can be achieved by
him; but my own reception will give him clear proof
that the hearts of all are ready to receive him with
affection, and to listen to him with reverence.

In these my wanderings, I have innumerable per-
sons to thank for their attention to me; but especially
have I to acknowledge the kindness of Admiral Sir
Edward Owen, Sir Patrick Stuart at Malta, Mr. Ste-
vens at Trebizond, my generous and noble-minded
friend Colonel Williams, Mr. James Brant, and Mr.
and Mrs. Redhouse ; and also that of Colonel Sheil at
Teheraun. But most especially must I thank Sir
Stratford and Lady Canning, for their great kindness
during my stay at Constantinople : nor must I omit to
mention their Excellencies Count and Countess Stiir-
mer, Count Von Medem, and Monsieur Titoff.

"For the quietude of soul of the friends of those mur-
dered officers, Colonel Stoddart and Captain Conolly,
I have to observe that they were both of them cruelly
slaughtered at Bokhara, after enduring agonies from
coufinement in prison of the most fearful character,—
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masses of their flesh having being gnawn off their
bones by vermin, in 1843. The cause of these foul
atrocities being practised on them, the positive agent

- of their entire misery, was the Nayeb of Nasir Ullah

Behadur, Ameer of Bokhara, Aspur Samur Kaan.
I charge on that pretended friend of the English
nation this foul atrocity. 1 wish that this open decla-
ration of mine should find insertion in the Persian
newspapers published in the kingdom of the Sikhs
at Lahore, and also at Delhi. I wish it to reach
the Ameer of Bokhara, in order that that Sovereign,
whose ear has been much abused by that foul mis-
creant, should perceive that he has been led to act
under false and erroneous impressions with regard
to the real objects at heart of Colonel Stoddart and
Captain Conolly, and that Abdul Samut Khan intend-
ed to have added me to their bloody graves. I appeal
to his understanding, whether a letter from England
then received from any of our Authorities would not
also probably have led me, a simple traveller, to share
the fate of these Diplomatic agents of England. 1
assert that Abdul Samut Khan, the Nayeb, wished me
further to give him thirty thousand tillahs, to effect
the death of the very Sovereign who has so highly
honoured him. These are grave charges,—let the
Persian come into the lists and disprove them.

In the course of this work I have to acknowledge
my obligations to Von Hanmer repeatedly, and I have
already in my former Preface given the names of va-
rious gentlemen who had furnished me with materials
for my Appendix to the first and second editions.
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I desire to repeat my thanks for their kindness,
although their labours, from a press of fresh matter,
the result of novel circumstances, have not been incor-
porated in the present Volume.

But most of all are my acknowledgments due to
my excellent, kind-hearted, and learned friend, the
Reverend J. W. Worthington, D. D., who arranged
and corrected most kindly the whole of four edstions
which the noble British nation has demanded, and
took besides such a warm and brotherly interest in my
welfare as I never never can forget.

August 18th, 1846,
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MISSION OF DR. WOLFF
TO BOKHARA.

CHAPTER 1.

Mpysterious state of the Pagan World. Life of Dr. Wolff—converted to
Christianity—banished from Rome—begins his Missionary labours in
1821. From 1821 to 1826 occupied in Missions among the Jews in
Palestine, Egypt, Mesopotamia, Persia, Crimea, Georgia, and Ottoman
Empire. From 1826 to 1830, similarly occupied in Ireland, Holland,
and the Mediterranean. Commences a fresh Mission in 1831. In Asia
Minor meets with Armenians; passes thence to Kurdistaun. Adven-
tures with the head-tearer, Muhammed Kale Kaan Kerahe. Is made
a Slave—saved from his captivity by Abbas Mirza. Arrives at Meshed
—goes to Sarakhs, Mowr, Karakol, and Bokhara, where he is well treat-
ed by the Ameer. Crosses the Oxus to Balkh—thence to Peshawr—
enters the Punjaub—proceeds to Simnlah. Kindly received by Lord and
Lady William Bentinck. Crosses into Cashmeer—conversation with
Fakeers, Brahmins, and Muhammedans. Reaches Delhi—then Agra.
Cawnpore; meets here with Lieutenant Conolly—kindness of Lieu-
tenant Conolly. Lucknow; disputes with the Muhammedan Mullahs
before the king of Oude. Benares; remarks on the Buddhists. Visits
Calcutta—Masulipatam—Hyderabad. Seized with Cholera Morbus.
Reaches Madras—Trichinopoly—Cochin ; meets here with black and
white Jews. Goa—Poonah—Bombay—Mocha—Jiddah—Suez—Cairo.
Reaches Malta, March 20th, 1834. Prepares his Travels for publication.

¢ VERILY Thou art a God that hidest Thyself! O God of
Israel, the Saviour!™ This must be the exclamation of
every man whose eye has attentively marked the ways of
Providence in the East. To one who, like myself, has gazed
on the children of the Gentiles in their large scatterings,
and on my own Israel in her deep dispersions, the above pas-
sage comes home to the soul with all the deep and solemn
impression that a sinking sunset in a tropical land produces.
) B



2 NARRATIVE OF THE MISSION

The heart is filled with the deep mysteries of creativeness,
when it reflects on the wonderful providences of God in the
yet partial revealing. To me the darkness that has gathered
over the earth appears now dissipating,—the iron scourge
of the church of God for thirteen centuries seems fast
corroding in its strongest hold, and the prophecies of its
downfall seem rapidly hastening to fulfilment. The power-
ful force of events of this character has attracted the atten-
tion of even the busy politicians of the East, and they have
owned that they see the action of a more than ordinary might,
and the Turks themselves speak clearly of the speedy rule of
the Giaour.

My own life has been as the scenes I have witnessed. I
began life as one of the dispersed people of God. At an
early period I received pure Christianity in the schools of
the enlightened Friedrich Leopold, Count of Stolberg, the
well-known poet, celebrated Greek scholar, and statesman;
next from the distinguished Roman Catholic bishop Johannes
Michael Sailer, Frint at Vienna, Bolzano at Prague, and the
writings of Fenelon, Pascal, and Bossuet. 1 was then intro-
duced to that excellent Pope, Pius VII., to Cardinal Litta,
and the present Cardinal Ostini, and entered the Collegio
Romano, and then the Propaganda at Rome; and though I
am indebted to the Propaganda for many excellent things I
witnessed, and though I shall always feel obliged to speak
with gratitude of Pius VII. and Cardinal Litta, I nevertheless
heard many sentiments and saw many practices in the church
against which my conscience revolted, and I was openly obliged
to protest against them, which induced Pope Pius VII. and
Cardinal Litta to decree my banishment from Rome. I was
escorted by twenty-five gens-d’armes out of the city of Rome,
after I had been in the custody of Signor Degeler, the Avocato
of the San Uffizio, who posted a dwarf to watch me until the
arrival of the Corriere del Gabinetto with a carriage, in which
I quitted the city with a member of the San Uffizio at my side.
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In the convent of Val-Saint, in Switzerland, amongst the
monks of the order of the Congregatio Sanctissimi Redemp-
toris, or the so-called Ligorians,® I became still more convin-
ced that my sentiments differed from those of the Church of
Rome. I therefore came to Cambridge in the year 1819.
Under the direction of Professor Lee I studied the Persian
and Arabic, and by the fatherly attention of that holy man,
the Rev. Charles Simeon, of King’s College, Cambridge, I
acquired theology; and when this further light broke in
upon me, became a member of the Church of England. My
inner world has thus been as this outer, in which I have
walked.

Let me now, in connexion with the causes that produced
the present work, give a brief summary of the past labours
that led to my last mission. I began in 1821, and accom-
plished in 1826, my missionary labours among the dispersed
of my people in Palestine, Egypt, Mesopotamia, Persia,
Krimea, Georgia, and the Ottoman Empire. My next la-
bours among my brethren were in England, Scotland, Ireland,
Holland, and the Mediterranean, from 1826 to 1830. I then
proceeded to Turkey, Persia, Tiirkistaun, Bokhara, Affghan-
istaun, Cashmeer, Hindiistaun, and the Red Sea, from 1831
to 1834. Bokhara and Balkh—when, in 1829, at Jerusalem
~—occupied especially my attention, on the ground that I ex-
pected to find in them the traces of the lost Ten Tribes of the
Dispersion. This led to my first visit to Bokhara. Before,
however, I proceed to this, I am induced, at the solicitation
of many kind friends, to dwell on a few leading circumstances
anterior to my arrival in that city. They will also be neces-
sary, in great part, to the clear understanding of the subse-
quent portion of this narrative.

In passing through Asia Minor, I held numerous and

® The monks of Val-Saint flagellated themselves every Friday. I gave
myself one blow, but as I did not like it, I left it off. I observed, however,

that Joseph Srna flagellated the wall instead'of his body.
B2
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interesting conversations with the Armenians and the Mus-
sulmans. With the latter especially I omitted no opportunity
that was afforded me, consistent with their habits, of incul-
cating a far higher reverence for Christ than that profound
respect even in which they hold his name. I omitted no
opportunity, I say also, of examining both Armenian, Per-
sian, Hebrew, Arabic, and Greek MSS. In the Arme-
nian Bible, for example, I found an important variation. In
Daniel viii. 14, they read 2068; whereas, in our version it is
2300. In this passage, a MS. in the possession of the Jews
of Bokbara reads 2400 * instead of 2300. With the Yeseedee,
or worshippers of the devil, I held long conversations. This
singular people, amid one of their strange rites, dance an-
nually around the ruins of ancient Babylon. Another of the
notions of this strange people is, that (if a circle be drawn
round them) they would rather die within it than attempt to
escape out of it, unless a portion of the circle be effaced.
The analogy between this notion and the magician’s charmed
circle, can escape no one.

In Kurdistaun I had long conferences with the Jews, whom
I found possessed of much learning. I spoke with them in
Hebrew and Chaldean, which they mix considerably with
Turkish, Several rabbins, however, spoke Hebrew remark-
ably well. I had also, in Teheraun, affecting interviews with
the Jews, in which I expouunded to them the Scriptures.
Various curious conversations that I had with the Sheahs,
or followers of Ali, in Persia, would fill volumes. With
the Guebres, or worshippers of fire, how often also have I
conversed in Shiraz, Isfahan, and Kashaun! How singular
and wild the aspect of the sons of fire! How analogous their
angel history to the Jewish! How similar to the rites of
Vesta! How like that early adoration when my people bowed

® The Vatican edition of the LXX has the same reading, Dan. viii. 14.

Kal elrev abr@ “Ews dowépas xal wpat fpuépar BioxiAias kad Terpaxdoias xal xaba-
picbhicerar 7d Eyiov.
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to the luminous Shechinah of the Lord! Yet if idolatry has
been rife on my path, rarely has my step fallen where I did
not trace Christianity. In Egypt I found the Kopts; in
Palestine the Maronites, Syrians, Greeks, Armenians, and
Armenian Catholics; in Mesopotamia, at Merdeen, Mosool,
Arbel, and Bagdad, T met the Jacobites, the followers of
Nestorius, and Roman Catholics; in Asia Minor, at Tre-
bizond, Bayazid, Shooshe in Karabagh, again Armenians;
at Tiflis, the Georgians. Again, how singularly did I find
in these regions the same great differences of Calvinism and
Arminianism that exist among ourselves. We are too apt to
look on the Muhammedan as a fatalist; but in Mecca, as
well as elsewhere, the limits of the will are freely discussed.
Haje Sheikh Muhammed told me, in the words of Milton,
¢ Foreknowledge of God does not affect the free will of men.”
How external and inextinguishable also appeared the customs
of the East! For instance, the shepherd precedes his sheep,
and his sheep follow him; the judges sit under the gate ; the
disciples of the learned pour water on the hands of their
masters ; the Jews swear by the Temple of Jerusalem, and
Jew, Christian, and Muhammedan by their heads ; the bride
is awakened by the screams of other women, exclaiming,
¢ The bridegroom cometh ;" torches are carried before her
at midnight; the war about wells, as in the time of Moses
and Jacob, still subsists in Yemen ; the lamentations over a
nurse are also continued ; the names of people are still given
to indicate the events of the period; the king bestows a name
significative of his employ on his minister; the lepers sit
outside the gates of cities; bad vines are called ¢vines of
Sodom ;> holy places are approached by putting the shoes
from off the feet; the scarf is wrought on both sides; the
Rechabite plants no vineyard, sows no seed, lives in tents; the
Derveesh, like the Nazarite of old, still makes vows that no
razor shall come upon his head ; barren women still perform
pilgrimages to holy places, and this state is held in abhor-
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rence, as in ancient time; Armenian women vow, like Hannah
of old, that if they receive a son, he shall be devoted to God ;
cities of refuge for the shedder of blood unawares still subsist,
and the person guilty of blood must flee with his family, like
the first murderer, to other places.

From various conversations with Affghauns in Khorassaun
and elsewhere, I learnt that some of them are proud of an
origin from the children of Israel, but I doubt the truth of
that partial tradition. Amid the khans of Khorassaun,
Muhammed Izhak Kerahe of Torbad Hydaréa, the Rustam
of the East, was the most remarkable for ferocity. At San-
gerd the caravan was attacked by robbers: one of them seized
my horse, crying out,  Pool!” (money); I gave him all I
had. T was soon surrounded by others, stripped even of the
shirt on my back, and had a rag covered with vermin thrown
over me, and was brought out into the highway, where all my
fellow-travellers of the caravan were assembled, weeping and
crying, and bound to the tails of horses. The robbers were
twenty-four in number. We were driven along by them in
continual gallop, on account of the approach of the Tirko-
mauns ; for if the Tiirkomauns had found them out, our
robbers would have been made slaves by them, they being
Sheahs themselves. During the night three prisoners escaped.
At two in the morning we slept in a forest. They had pity
on me, and gave me a cup of tea made of my own; they then
put a price on me and my servant, valuing him at ten and
myself at five tomauns, They took his money from him, by
which I found that he had previously robbed me of sixteen
tomauns. After this we were put in irons. They consulted
about killing me, but did not do so, from fear of Abbas
Mirza. The promise of a good ransom at Torbad Hydaréa
saved my life. The first question put by the robbers, openly
before the people of Torbad, was, “How is the tyrant
Mubammed Izhak Khan going on? Is he not yet dead ?™

“No,” they replied; “but one of his sous is dead.”
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¢ A pity that he died not himself,” returned the rob-
bers; “then we should be free from that tyrant, and not
be obliged to plunder people in the path, and eat the bread
of blood.”

We saw hundreds of blind persons, of both sexes, near the
gate of Torbad. The robbers turned to me, and said, “Do
you see these blind men and women? Their eyes were taken
out by that eye-cutting and head-tearing tyrant Muhammed
Izhak Khan, of Torbad Hydaréa.®* God curse him, and curse
his house! curse him in his getting up,—curse him in his
lying down! God curse his wife, and the fruit of her womb !
and may he that has made many widows, may he die, that
the dogs drink his blood, that his wives may be widows and
his children orphans!™

Though naked, they examined us narrowly as we entered
Torbad, thinking we might have money concealed about us.
I exclaimed, Yx~u¢» yow,  Hear, Israel,” (a common exclama-
tion of my countrymen throughout the world,) and was soon
surrounded by Jews. They pledged themselves that I should
not run away, received me to their homes, where I preached
to them the Gospel of Jesus. They were quite ignorant of
his history, sufferings, and death, which also convinces me
that the Jews of Khorassaun and Bokhara are of the Ten
Tribes who never returned to Palestine after the Babylonish
captivity. 'Therefore there still remains to be fulfilled the
prophecy recorded in Ezekiel xxxix. 28: ¢ Then shall they
know that I am the Lord their God, which caused them
to be led into captivity among the heathen: but I have
gathered them unto their own land, and have left none of
them any more there.”

The next day I was desired to go back to the robbers,
when I was suddenly put into irons, and chained with the

® He places his hands on the head of his subjects, and literally, from his

enormous strength, rends the scalp, and it is said sometimes the skull, of his
victims,
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rest of the slaves. One of the slave-sellers, a malicious
Kurd, squeezed the irons over my legs crossways, to pain
me still further. My fellow-slaves, though bound in one
common chain, cursed me incessantly. The director of the
police said, ¢ To this infidel you must give neither water to
drink nor a galyoon to smoke, for he is nedshas, ¢ unclean.’
If he is thirsty, he may go to the well and drink,-like any
other dog.” Suddenly, in the midst of my persecutions, a
man appeared, who exclaimed, ¢ Is any Englishman here?”
“Yes, yes!™ was my exclamation. The chains were re-
moved, a soldier of Abbas Mirza had arrived with a letter
from Muhammed Izbak Khan, ordering him to release me.
He gave instant orders to that effect, and bastinadoed the
robbers, wishing the whole matter to appear as done without
his consent. 1 was brought before him. He is a tall stout
man, with very large eyes, of black complexion, never looking
into your face, but with a down glance, a deep thundering
voice. His sword, they say, is continually girt about him,
and he does not lay it aside even in the bath. No one knows
where he sleeps. He was seated upon a high throne, all
others standing at a distance, terror in every look. He de-
manded what sum had been taken from me. I replied,
¢ Eighty tomauns.” He got it from the robbers, but kept it
himself. He then said, ¢ You came here with books, in
order to show us the right way: well, go on.” This per-
sonage I shall again introduce to my readers on my second
visit to these regions, which has led me to be thus ample in
my present statement.

On my arrival after these matters at Meshed, I had long
interviews with my nation. The Jewish Sooffees of this place
acknowledge Moses, Jesus, Muhammed, and 124,000 Pro-
phets. They are under small moral control. They have a
poem in Persian, written with Jewish-Persian characters,
called Youssuf-u-Zuleika, ¢ Joseph and Zuleika,” describing
the love of Potiphar’s wife for Joseph. They have Hafix
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in a similar character. They speak of an exoteric and esoteric
religion, like the philosophers of old. I reasoned with them
on their flagitious violations of morality, and the insincerity
of their conduct; that they knew that they were in the
wrong, and that they stood in need of faith in Jesus Christ
. in order to be saved. They observed that I was the second
Englishman they had seen who was attached to the Book;
THE FIRST WAS LIEUTENANT ARTHUR CoNorry. How sin-
gularly have I followed his steps, even up to the hour almost
of his death! He was at Meshed in 1829. T wrote of him,
before I knew that I should be so remarkably connected with
the inquiry into his death, as follows: ¢« He is an excellent,
intrepid, and well-principled traveller. The misfortune of
this gentleman was, that he had no interest with great men;
on which account he was not remunerated for his journeys
to Meshed, Heraut, and Candahar.” After this, it will again
and again be seen how closely I have followed my pious and
excellent friend’s path in the various regions he has trod.

At Meshed, his royal highness Abbas Mirza ordered me
to be brought before him. After kind inquiries of my health,
he deeply regretted my captivity in Khorassaun; and told
me, when I went to Bokhara, to assure the Ameer that he
had no intention of taking his country, but that he was
determined to put a stop to slavery. He wrote with his own
hand both a pass for me and certificate of the object of my
journey to Bokhara. Meshed is a grossly immoral place, de-
spite its holy character. The number of pilgrims that arrive
at the tomb of Imaum Resa amounts to twenty thousand.

From Meshed I proceeded through Tirkistaun; and first
let me speak of Sarakhs, a place of doubtful origin in its
ctymological root. Some derive it from the Arabic sara,
sowing; others from sarak, to steal. It is the country of
slave-stealing, and therefore this latter etymon is not impro-
bable. Eighteen hundred families of Tarkomauns, of the
celebrated tribe of Salor, live there. I lectured on this spot
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with deep earnestness to the Jews, and I believe made many
permanent impressions, which I found confirmed on my second
visit. All the Jews of Turkistaun assert that the Tirko-
mauns are the descendants of Togarmah, one of the sons of
Gomer, mentioned in Genesis x. 3. The Tirkomauns have
no mosque; they pray apart from each other, either in the
field or the tent. Twice in the year they assemble in the de-
sert, and prefer their prayer. 1 passed hence to Mowr, and
thence to Jehaar-Joo,—two places of which I shall discourse
at greater length when I enumerate them on my last tour in
that direction.

I passed then to Karakol. The governor of this place,
Mubhammed Hussein Khan, was formerly a Guzl-Bash slave,
but gained the favour of Shah Hydur, and was exalted to the
position of Ameer and governor of Karakol. When I told
him that my object was to inquire into the state of the Jews,
and hold friendly intercourse with the Muhammedans at Bo-
khara, he advised me to do nothing without consulting the
Goosh-Bekee, or vizier. He also demanded my opinion about
the mullahs issuing Fetwa, or Bulls, that the Tirkomauns
should make slaves of the Guzl-Bash. I replied that I dis-
approved of it. He then, after many cautions, requested me
to write him out a prayer for his devotions, which I did, in
Persian, and advised him to read it daily.

After this I entered Bokhara. I then presented my letters,
underwent much rigid questioning from the Goosh-Bekee on
various points, such as whether Muhammed was predicted in
our sacred books, my belief in Jesus, and the objects of my
journey. I then explained to the Jews my mission, read
in their synagogue the law of Moses, but discontinued any
further participation in their services.

The king, Behadur Khan, was then twenty-eight years of
age. He spends his mornings in reading the Arabic writings
of Jelaal and Bydawee with the mullahs, visits the grave of
Baba Deen, a sanctified derveesh of Bokhara, and hears causes
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of dispute during the remainder of the day among his sub-
jects. He is terribly dreaded by his ministers.

The Jews in Bokhara are 10,000 in number. The chief
rabbi assured me that Bokhara is the Habor, and Balkh the
Halah, of 2 Kings xvii. 6; but that in the reign of Ghengis
Khan they lost all their written accounts. At Balkh the
Mussulman mullahs assured me that it was built by a son of
Adam ; that its first name had been Hanakh, and afterwards
Halah, though later writers called it Balakh, or Balkh. The
Jews, both of Balkh and Samarcand, assert that Tirkistaun
is the land of Nod, and Balkh where Nod ¢ once stood.” In
this land of Cain the Jews bear a mark, by order of the king
of Bokhara, in order that no Mussulman may give them
salaam, peace. 'To Rabbi Joseph Mooghrubee, an African,
the Jews of Bokhara owe the restoration of their ancient
customs: they had nearly lost all trace of them, in their
sojourn among Mubammedans. This great man, I was
assured by his son-in-law, Rabbi Pinehas Ben-Simha, used to
say, ¢ Oh, Lord! when will the time come that the followers
of Jesus will take possession of these countries?* This son-
in-law is now a Christian, and was couverted by me; and so
are many others of the Jews at present in Bokhara. Jews
came to me here from Samarcand, Khokand, and other places :
the total population was then about 13,600. I found the
epileptic convulsion, which produced such an effect for Mu-
hammed among a people who call « gasping ™ inspiration,
currently handed down; and I have little doubt that, like
madness and idiotcy, they were no mean agents of his power
among a people that look on the victims to these maladies as
the inspired of God. The tradition is an old one at Bokhara,
that some of the Ten Tribes are in China. I tried the Jews
here on various points of Scriptural interpretation, parti-
cularly that important one in Isaiah vii. 14,—mby virgin.
They translated it as we Christians do, and they are in total
ignorance of the important controversy between Jews and
Christians on that point.
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I obtained a passport from the king after this most inter-
esting sojourn, and then crossed the Oxus, and arrived after
a few days at Balkh ; and from that city, where I also com-
muned with the dispersed of Israel, I proceeded to Muzaur,
the spot where Ali’s camel disappeared miraculously at his
tomb, Hither came pilgrims from Affghanistaun, Cashmeer,
Khokand, Shahr-Sabz, Hindustaun, Khiva, and Bokhara.
Hence I proceeded to Cabil, in Affghanistaun. Some Aff-
ghauns claim a descent from Israel. According to them,
Affghaun was the nephew of Asaph, the son of Berachia,
who built the temple of Solomon. The descendants of this
Affghaun, being Jews, were carried into Babylon by Nebu-
chadnezzar, from whence they were removed to the mountain
of Ghoree, in Affghanistaun, but in the time of Muhammed
turned Muhamnmedans. They exhibit a book, Majmooa
Alansab, or ¢Collection of Genealogies,” written in Persian.
My readers will find these examined in my former work,*
but here I shall only allude to it. There is a great air of vrai-
semblance about it, and their pedigree is sometimes traced,
like our Lord’s, through the female branch, which proves how
futile is the Jewish objection, on that head, to our Lord's
descent.

Hence I passed to Peshawr. Here I had also the singular
book read to me of the origin of the Affghauns, the Poshtoo
Book of Khan Jehaun Loote. The account in this book
agrees with that given in the MSS. Teemur Nameh, and
Ketaub Ansabee Muhakkek Toose. 1 thought the general
physiognomy not Jewish, but I was wonderfully struck with
the resemblance that the Youssuf Szeye and the Khaibaree,
two of their tribes, bear to the Jews. The Kaffer Seeah-
Poosh, if Affghauns, vary widely from the rest of their
nation. Many travellers have thought them the descendants
from Alexander’s army, but they do not say so. They have
no exact account of their origin. Their rites are most singu-

* Rescarches and Missionary Labours among the Jews, Muhammedans, and other
Sects. By the Rev. Joseph Wolff. Nisbet: London, 1835.
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lar. In a large house called Imr-Ama,* they offer a cow
and sheep in sacrifice: they sprinkle the blood upon an idol
seated upon a horse. They have a throne of stone, upon
which some words are written, taken from the Taurat, the
Pentateuch of Moses. They hold distinctions of clean and
unclean animals. When a child is born, they turn the
mother out of the village, in order that it may not be un-
clean : the mother and the child remain three days in the
fields. They worship a god, Imra, and pictures of their
dead. They offer sacrifices to both. They put fire in the
Imra-Tan, i.e. the place where God is worshipped, and
another blazes before the idol. They offer butter and flour,
which they pour upon the idol, exclaiming, Hehamaj- Otu,
¢ Accept it;’ and before the place of their god (Imra-Tan)
they say, Hehamaj Imra, ¢ God, accept it.” The whole con-
gregation exclaims, Hekamaj. After this the Otu, or priest,
reads prayers. These are not remarkable for their charity :
one is, *“Increase our property; do not make us sick; and
kill the Mussulmans.” After every prayer they say, He-
hamaj, and then kiss their fingers. Their idols are of wood
and stone, gigantic human figures. They know but little of
a future state, and their rites are largely Pagan. I always
thought that the Kaffer Seeah-Poosh were descendants of
Israel ; and some of the learned Jews of Samarcand are of
my opinion.

From Peshawr I entered the Punjaub, May 29th, 1832.
The Seikhs have a high veneration for our Lord. In their
holy book they have written, that rays like the sun went out
of the hand of Christ. At Jehaungeer, Serdar Hung Singh
welcomed me in the name of the Maharajah. He was sur-
rounded by his officers and soldiers. To him I had the satis-
faction of reading the sermon of Jesus on the Mount, which
all listened to with great apparent delight. This man was a

* ¢ I verified on my last visit at Bokhara the exactitude of this account for
Imra is god, and Ama, house.
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devout person. My conversation at Unmritzer, after quitting
Lahore, with the Lion of the Punjaub, the Maharajah Run-
jeet Singh, my readers will find detailed at length in the work
I have previously quoted. Runjeet Singh dismissed me with
handsome presents.

Crossing from the country of Runjeet Singh, the Punjaub,
which will soon become a British possession, much to the
advantage of the Seikhs, I visited our first British station in
that direction, Loodianah, on the utmost northern frontier of
India, and the hospitable dwelling of Captain Wade, now Sir
Claude Martin Wade. Arriving hence, after one station, at
Roopor and Budde, I was received in the most cordial man-
ner by my dear deceased friend, Sir Jeremiah Bryant, and
proceeded thence to Simlab, where I was also most hospitably
received by Lord and Lady William Bentinck, and invited
to be their guest. Here I entered into a most interesting
correspondence with Captain Riley, the best Arabic scholar
in India, and also with the Roman Catholic bishop of Agra.
The points I mooted were, the aid Muhammed received in
composing the Koran ; the monk Boohyra; the Jews of
Khybur, who were nearly exterminated by him; the great
Muhammedan divisions of Sunnees and Sheahs; the Jewish
estimate of the book of Daniel ; also on the black and white
Jews of Cochin and Malabar, and the extent of Muhammedan
knowledge. Captain Riley, I was surprised to find, looked
on the Affghauns as of Jewish descent. He pointed out to
me two important forms, in which all refutations of the Koran
ought to be shaped ; and numerous other equally interesting
questions were discussed by this true believer, in a most
learned and Christian spirit.

Obtaining leave to pass into Cashmeer from Runjeet Singh,
by means of Lord William Bentinck, I crossed accordingly
first to Belaspoor, where I found its Rajah luxuriating in
having apes trampled to death under the feet of elephants;
and little worthy of note passed until I reached Nadown.
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Here the Rajah, on horseback, surrounded by soldiers, was
performing his devotions before three naked Fakeers. I im-
mediately entered into conversation with them, and inquired
of one of them how long he had been a Fakeer. He replied
that ‘¢ he lived in God, and should never die; for that as old
garments were exchanged for better, so the man of God lays
aside his old body, and puts on a new one.” A beautiful
answer; but when I wished to reply, he kept exclaiming,
¢ Be silent and listen.” I seized, however, despite of him,
on an opportunity to point out the truth of our revelation.
An unhappy peevishness marks all these ascetics. St. Jerome
was not free from it. Father Clemens Maria Hoffbauer, late
vicar-general of the order of the Ligorians, or Redemptorists,
a man of high repute for sanctity, confessor to Friedrich
Schlegel, was as peevish as the Fakeer of Nadown. When-
ever a person wished to speak, he had a habit of exclaiming
in the rudest manner, ¢ Halt dein Maul,”—¢ Hold your
tongue.” Certainly he forgot the great rule of a saint of
the church, that the Christian is the most finisked gentleman,
for he offends in nothing. True peace of mind dwells not
necessarily in caves and grottoes, on the pillar of a Simon
Stylites, or in the deserts of the Thebais with Antony. Ac-
tive energy in promoting truth and virtue is worth all the
sedentary graces of Fakeers, Monks, or Solitaries. I do
not impugn their merits in their peculiar path, but it is
obviously not one of general obligation. Simon Stylites,
however, was more practical than is commonly supposed ; he
preached to thousands of Arabs, as did Antony also.

I cannot detail the numerous interesting conversations on
the Vedas and other works, which I entered into in this coun-
try with various Hindis, until I reached Cashmeer, the city
of the Genii, who bore Solomon through the air to see its
magic beauty. I was disappointed with its present state. I
inquired out the chief mullahs, and commenced various con-
versations with them; with a descendant of the false prophet,
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Muhammed Shah Nakshbandee, especially. He received me
with great cordiality. He actually read, in Persian, to his
disciples the 24th and 25th chapters of Matthew; and I then
spoke of regeneration, and they read the 3rd chapter of John.
All the Brahmins I met with had an unlucky habit of affirm-
ing that what I said was in the Shastar, and used no further
argument. Perceiving this, I demanded on one occasion of
the venerable Brahmin Sheuram, ¢ In how many gods do
you believe?” ¢ There is one God,” said he, ¢ but he has
many names. The whole earth stands upon the serpent
Sheshnag ; she has 1000 teeth and 2000 tongues; with every
tongue she pronounces every day a new name of God; and
this she has done for centuries on centuries, never repeating
a name once pronounced.” A similarly wild account was
given in reply to a question on the history of the creation,
with confused traces of truth in it.

I must, however, observe, that there is far more of original
truth in the Vedas than in the Koran. I see in the Koran
nothing else but a pretended prophet without miracles, a faith
without mysteries, and a morality without love: a shallow
deism, which takes hold of the heart, and does not make it
better, but worse. Hence the intolerant fanaticism which has
produced nothing but death and destruction. Muhamme-
danism has been founded by the sword, and Muhammedanism
shall be destroyed by the sword.

The Hindis will be converted, but the Muhammedans de-
stroyed. We find hundreds of Hindiis already converted by
the zeal of Roman Catholic and Anglo-catholic missionaries,
but we do not find six Muhammedans, especially among the
Turks. T can only trace two Persians, and one Arab. Bu-
chanan was misinformed wholly by the infamous apostate
Sabat. Missionaries would, however, do a great deal more
good, if, instead of attempting to confute the errors of the
different religions, they were to try, first of all, to find out
what is intrinsically good in each, and then to show to those
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who embrace it how far their previous notions harmonize with
the prime verity in Christianity. They ought also to indicate
how far all religions have one common source ; and I do not
hesitate to affirm, that Christian missionaries will find, by the
adoption of such a method, that they will gain more insight
into Christianity itself. Intercommunion on these matters is
too much neglected among the several faiths. The observa-
tion repeatedly meets the ear, * Take care that you do not
fall into the error of the Papists, or of the Muhammedans, or
of the Hindis ;" but in guarding against extremes, people
often omit to notice what is really excellent.

While here, Moulavie Khyr Addeen, writer of the History
of Cashmeer, came to me. With him 1 had a discussion for
four hours about the divinity of Jesus, and it did small cre-
dit to his knowledge of modern history. One of his proofs
for the truth of the Muhammedan religion was, that all the
Christian powers are subjects of, and give tribute to, the
Sultan of Constantinople. I settled that point by alluding
to Sir E. Codrington’s settlement of the battle of Navarino.
The Brahmins and Pundits listened with great attention.

It was my intention to have passed into Thibet, but the
snows prevented me. I left Cashmeer on October 21st,
1832. On our route we were accompanied by fugitives from
Cashmeer, flying from the oppression of Runjeet Singh.
Women, walking destitute of every thing, carrying their chil-
dren on their heads: they told me, in their powerful language,
that they inherited the beauty of angels, but that all beauty
had withered under the dominion of the Seikhs. They told me,
en route, many a singular legend of the celebrated Fakeers,
that died at Cashmeer. Ameer Kebeer, king of Hamadan,
forsook the world, and became a Fakeer in Cashmeer. Huz-
rut Mukhdoom Sheikh Hamsa had three hundred thousand
disciples. Shah Kasem Akhanee said,  When you shall
see corn growing upon my grave, then the day of resurrection
is nigh at hand.” The people of Cashmeer assured me that

c
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corn had begun to grow upon his grave, and therefore they
consider my words to be true,—that Jesus will come.

After various journeys, I reached Delhi on December 6th,
and was introduced to the Mogul, who gave me a robe of
honour. While at Delhi, in the presence of several thousand
Muhammedans, I conversed with the grand mullah,—a man
of great scientific renown, Muhammed Izhak. He sent me
a letter at some length, detailing the grounds of his belief in
the Koran; of the ascent of Muhammed into heaven; of his
return; that he was the last of the prophets, and stated to
be such by the prophets. To this I simply replied, that I
wanted proof of two things: 1st. That Muhammed went to
and returned from heaven. 2nd. Those prophets who had
prophesied his mission. To this he replied, that Muham-
med’s mission was clear, from the numerous miracles he
worked ; next, from the divine and superhuman perfection
of the composition of the Koran, the bodily strength of the
Prophet, his numerous adherents; and he concluded by
demanding what proof I had that Jesus was the last of the
prophets. 1 replied, 1st. That none of these numerous mira-
cles were recorded in the Koran. 2nd. That a mere matter
of critical style, such as the composition of a book, could
not be considered as a grave argument; and that the most
learned Muhammedan scholars of Shiraz were by no means
of opinion that the composition of the Koran was unrivalled,
and if so, still a good composition even might convey untruth.
3rd. That, as we denied the authority of the Koram, that
could avail nothing in argument. 4th. That Goliath had
a bodily strength equal to any, nay, superior to any in his
day. b5th. That Buddhism had more adherents than Mu-
hammedanism, if numbers went for any thing; but that in-
formation in arts and sciences, in which Europeans were
confessedly great, on their own showing, was a much more
certain criterion. Lastly, That the proof that Jesus was the
last of the prophets was not a question with us. I did not
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undertake to show that absolutely ; but Jesus was the end of
the law to us,—that if even an angel preached a new Gospel,
he should be held accursed; and that therefore I could not
believe in Muhammed.

From Delhi I passed to Agra, and thence to various places
until I reached Cawnpore. HEzt I MET WiITH LIEUTENANT
ConoLLy. When I travelled first in Khorassaun, in the
year 1831, I heard at Meshed, by the Jews, that an English
traveller had preceded me there, by the name of Arthur
Conolly, as I have already mentioned. They described him
as a man who lived in the fear of God and of religion. The
moment I arrived he took me to his house, and not only
showed me the greatest hospitality, but, as I was at that
time short of money, he gave me every assistance in his
power; and not only so,—he revised my Journal for me
with the most unaffected kindness. He also collected the
Muhammedan mullahs to his house, and permitted me not
only to discuss with them the subject of religion, but gave
me most substantial assistance in combating their arguments.
Conolly was a man possessed of a deep Scriptural knowledge,—
a capital textuary; and I bless God that he enjoyed that
comfort in his captivity, that inward light, when the iron
of tyranny—in his case as in that of holy Joseph—entered
into his soul. Various enemies are always found to attack
the lone missionary. Nobly and well did this gallant soldier
acquit himself in the church militant, both in deeds of arms
and deep devotion to the cause of Christ. In 1838 I again
met with him in England. Here our friendship was renewed.
At Constantinople I learnt he expressed his deep affection for
me to Count Stirmer. I often wished to repay him my
debt of gratitude; and the instant the news reached me of
his captivity in Bokhara, I offered my aid to release him
in letters to his family. I was given to understand by Mrs.
Macnaghten, Conolly’s sister, to whom I made the offer of
going to Bokhara, that a deep sense of the probability of a

c2
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fatal termination to such an undertaking, made the family
decline the offer. When I reflect on our past intercourse,
it brings with it the pleasing reflection that the spiritual
element was mainly dominant in it; that we were together
to become daily holier and better men; that our hands did
not join in deeds of iniquity, but were upraised to God our
Maker and Saviour. His firm conduct at his dying hour
reminds us forcibly of the bearing of those brave soldiers
who died in the persecution of Decius and Diocletian. I
hope to see my Conolly among them at the hour of Christ’s
coming in glory.

I cannot speak more of Cawnpore, for it is embittered to
my memory, and shall pass on to Lucknow. Here I was in-
troduced to the king of Oude, and his Majesty gave me ten
thousand rupees,—one thousand pounds sterling. With this
money I repaid to John Hookham Frere, who lately resided at
Malta, my excellent deceased friend, the sum of five hundred
pounds, which he had generously advanced to me to defray
the expense of my mission.

His Majesty said he would appoint a day for the mullahs
to hear my faith discussed. I held disputations with several
Mussulmans of the Sheah persuasion, and lectured here on
the prophecies of the second coming of our Lord.

On February the 2nd, in the presence of the king, clothed
in royal robes with a crown on his head, I entered into my
appointed disputation with the mullabs. Major Low, and my
most beloved friends Sir Jeremiah and Lady Bryant, were
there also. I cited, in proof of my belief, the fifty-third
chapter of Isaiah. All the mullahs opened their Bibles, and I
stated the argument for the Trinity. A discussion took place
on the twenty-first chapter of Isaiah, whence, to my astonish-
ment, they attempted to show from the ¢ burden on Arabia”
the mission of Muhammed. This is erroneously translated in
the Arabic Bible, < prophecy on Arabia.” I proved to them,
however, that it meant a prophecy predicting a calamity to
Arabia. This of course settled the question.
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I must here fully state my hearty conviction—the result of
the experience of more than twenty years of travels—of the
immense utility of the British and Foreign Bible Society. The
Word of God would have been entirely extinct among the
Eastern Christians but for that Society. Its copies are in the
hands of mullahs of all denominations, not only in Asia, but
even in the deserts of Tiurkistaun. The agents they employ
are excellent men; I only need mention the Rev. H. Leeves,
at Athens, and Benjamin Barker, Esq., at Mytilene, the capi-
tal of Lesbos. It is utterly absurd to say that all benevolent
societies are to be under the direction of bishops; even the
Church of Rome, in her powerful discipline, has never follow.
ed this plan,—that all benevolent societies are necessarily to
be placed under episcopal control,—nor does the Church of
Armenia. We have hospitals without bishops,—why should
not the Word of God be circulated by the layman or the
presbyter 7 I thank God that there is also a Society for Pro-
moting Christian Knowledge, which does not give only the
Bible, but also the Liturgy of the Church of England; for
neither the Jews nor the Muhammedans are without a litur-
gy- Andit is a most important feature to show the agree-
ment of the Church of England with other forms of faith in
this particular. I confess I should also like to see a society
of the Church of England, which should give to the world a
systematic theology, both doctrinal and practical ; and such a
system ought to have the sanction of all the bishops, as well as
the learned presbyters of the Church of England : of this I
should like to see a transcript in every language, and circu-
lated to the four winds.

I had also a dispute, in writing, with Ameer Sayd Ahmed
Mujtehéd of the Sheahs, at Lucknow ; but it is too long for
me to insert in this brief abstract of my former Indian con-
nexion, which led to my intimacy with Captain Conolly, and
to my second journey to Bokhara.

From Lucknow I passed to Benares, the holy city of India:
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whoever dies there will obtain Inokshu, ©absorption into the
Deity.’ I consider this is little better than the comfortable
system of Nirwana, or ¢annihilation,’ of the Buddhists, who
hold in a final state of annihilation of all things. This is the
ultimate boon offered by a faith embraced by the largest por-
tion of the East,—thank Heaven, not of the world, for the
Christians now outnumber any other denomination.

This is the case with the spiritualizers in the Christian
church : they have an unscriptural, unprophetical, unnatural
dislike to hear of any thing but Nature’s doom and Nature’s
death. Nothing will satisfy them but that the world, animate
and inanimate, once happy but for a single day, should draw
its penance onwards to the utmost longevity of miserable age,
and then sink into annihilation. The ghosts of the Lamas
of Thibet, who move about in the air, are the sisters of the
forms visible in their shadowy Paradise. I do expect to rule
over a renovated earth, purified and redeemed, and inhabited
by living creatures in flesh and blood, and though in flesh
and blood, redeemed from Satan, sin, and death. If a phan-
tomizing system is spirituality, the Buddhists at Lassa, the
Sooffees at Shiraz, and the Hindiis at Nadown, might claim
analogous influences.

The Hinda writings contain no reference to Jesus in the
sacred books. I need scarce particularize the feelings with
which, after various wanderings, I lectured in Henry Mar-
tin’s pulpit at Dinapore. At Giyah, famous for its Hinda
pilgrimages, I explained the Goepel in Persian to Hindus
and Muhammedans.

At last the kind Bishop of Calcutta received me in his
house on the 22nd March, 1833. Again I experienced in
this city the splendid hospitality of Lord and Lady Wm.
Bentinck. I lectured to about twelve hundred persons in the
town-hall. The Baptist missionaries,~—~Marshman and the
veteran Carey, welcomed me gladly also, and invited me to
their splendid and unique establishment at Serampore.
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From Calcutta I passed to Masulipatam, whence I visited
Hyderabad. While there, the inquiries were proceeding with
respect to the Thugs, and I believe that I first laid a com-
plete statement of that question before a British public. As
the story of these monsters, exhibiting a totally new form of
crime, is now fully known in this country, this wholesale
murder and theft system, I shall not here enter into it. On
my journey from Hyderabad to Madras, I was attacked with
cholera the instant I entered the bungalow of Mr. Bruce of
Nellore, at Ramapatam. It was accompanied by cramp and
dysentery. With no European near me, I commended my
soul to God. My hands and feet became convulsed, but
I felt peace in Christ amid all my sufferings. I prayed to
Him to send me relief, and I had scarce done so before a voice
exclaimed near me, in English, «“I see you have the cholera
morbus : my husband died of it two months ago.” The per-
son who spoke was a half-Indian, or, as she called herself, in
humility, a half-caste,—the wife of a serjeant of Vellore, of
the name of Gillespie. She gave me a whole bottle of brandy
with two hundred drops of laudanum, and other remedies.®
These remedies of my female mediciner stopped the vomiting
at intervals. Dr. Cooper, sent by Mr. Bruce, arrived next
morning ; he gave me warm water with salt, and twice, forty
grains of calomel ; this stopped the vomiting for two hours.
He asked me whether I would submit to his putting a hot
iron on my stomach. I said, ¢ Yes.” He branded me three
times, and, God be praised, it stopped the cholera morbus
entirely. Four days I remained there; on the fifth I was
carried to Nellore, where I remained twenty days in a critical

® The kindness of this woman, and others, convinced me that it is too
harsh an assertion to affirm the general depravity of the balf-Indians. There
are generous and noble-minded people among them, and surely it must
be the interest of a great and powerful empire fike our own to efface all
offensive expressions,—giving an infamy skin deep only to a high-minded
and well-educated and numerous class of its subjects. The Governor-general
now receives all distinctions of colour at his table. The merchant-princes of
Prophecy ought, undoubtedly, to efface all such odious appellations.
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state from bilious fever. After this I attempted to proceed in
a palanquin to Madras, but at forty miles from Nellore I was
attacked with a violent spasm, which obliged my bearers to
carry me on their shoulders to a native bungalow. Here
Mr. Prendergast, the sub-collector, found me, and dear Dr.
Cooper came a second time to assist me. After four days, I
reached Madras. I recovered sufficiently to lecture there at
St. Thomas on the Mount, a spot where it is believed that
St. Thomas the Apostle suffered martyrdom: so says Eastern
tradition and many Fathers of the church. 1 saw here Dr.
Rotler, the fellow-labourer of Schwarz. He was eighty-five
years of age.

I left Madras August 31st, 1833, and, after various move-
ments, arrived at Trichinopoly. Here I found a hundred
and fifty native Christians, observing caste, but relinquish-
ing it at the Lord’s table: and here I received an invitation
from the most famous missionary of the East, the Rev. Mr.
Rhenius, of Palamcottah,—more enterprising, bold, and
talented than Schwarz himself. The number of Hindas to
whose conversion he has been instrumental, amounts to twelve
thousand. I cannot express the satisfaction I felt at the
immense progress he was daily making under my own eyes
among the Hindis. I Jectured to them; Rhenius and
Shaffter, his fellow-labourer, interpreted, for I did not under-
stand Malabar, and they could not understand Persian.

I must reluctantly pass much, and go on to Cochin, which
I was anxious to reach from its well-known Jewish popula-
tion. I found there black and white Jews celebrating the
feast of Tabernacles. Those that are called black Jews are
people who became Jews of their own accord at Cranganore,
and in other parts of the country, of black and half-black
colour. For this reason, the white Jews do not intermarry
with them. They have neither priests nor Levites, nor
families, nor relations on foreign coasts: they are only found
in the Malabar coast. They observe the law as white Jews
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do. They are most numerous at Cochin. Many of the black
Jews, however, assert that their ancestors became Jews when
Haman fell, and affirm (though the white Jews deny it) that
they were there when the white Jews came to Hindistaun.
They consider themselves as slaves to the white Jews, pay
them yearly tribute and a small sum for the circumcision of
their children, and for permission to wear frontlets in prayer
time. They do not sit down with the white Jews, nor eat
with them. In this they resemble the Americans in the
United States, who do not eat with the negro population.
The immorality of the white Jews of this place was frightful.
I met among them a Polish Jew, a man of extraordinary
talents, possessing almost more than the immense facility of
his countrymen in general in the acquirement of language.
He knew eighteen languages. .

I pass intermediate spots and come to Goa, the scene of
the labours of the great Francis Xavier. Here around, in
all directions, with overflowing eyes I saw the cross of Christ
—Christian churches, and the idols of Hindistaun displaced.
The Augustinian convent here is a’ highly valuable insti-
tution, They spoke nobly of Buchanan and his undauunted
behaviour before the Inquisition. They condemned it, and
agreed with me that our government did right to suggest its
abolition in 1810. All their books came from Lisbon. There
had been Jews at Goa, they told me, until they were exiled
by the Inquisition. The Portuguese viceroy of Goa, Don
Manuel de Portugal Castro, corresponded with me on various
matters, and expressed his high satisfaction at my labours;
he was a nephew to Don Pedro: as did also the government
secretary, Nunez. The Jesuits were suspected of having
removed the body of Francis Xavier, which was carried
there from China, (for he died in China,) at the time of
their departure; but it was not so, since, on the inspection
of the tomb, the body of that approved servant of God was
still found within it.
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Proceeding on my journey I came to Poonah, where I
arrived on November 21st. I went with the learned mis-
sionary of the Scotch Missionary Society, Mr. Stevenson,
among the Beni Israel, children of Israel, living at Poonah.
They are totally distinct from the rest of the Jews in Europe
and Hindiistaun. Soon after the destruction of the first
Temple, they came in seven ships, they say, from Arabia
to Hindustaun, where they have since forgotten their law,
but continue to repeat in Hebrew certain prayers which they
have learnt from the other Jews; they also read the Pen-
tateuch, but without understanding the language. They
have synagogues, but they have not, like the rest of the
Jews, the Sepher Torah, or, in other words, the Pentateuch
written on parchment. They say, ¢ As we are soldiers, and
do not keep the law, the Sepher Torah may do us barm if
it stands in the midst of us.” They serve as soldiers in our
armies, and are esteemed the best native troops. They are
far superior in morality to the Jews of Cochin. They have,
however, in their houses Hindii idols, and seem to trust in
charms and amulets. This is a curious and literal fulfilment
of the prophecy in Deuteronomy xxviii. 36: < And there
shalt thou serve other gods, wood and stone.” I questioned
them about Jesus: they repeated the current Jewish objec-
tions, but did not possess any original views. The Beni
Israel amount, around Bombay, to nine thousand two hun-
dred and fifty souls.

I reached Bombay on November 20th, and was received
very kindly by Lord Clare, Archdeacon Carr, the Rev. Dr.
Wilson, Mr. James Farish, and others. I preached here to
many, and especially to the Beni Israel. I went one day
while here with that champion of our faith against Muham-
medans, Parsces, and Hindis, the Rev. John Wilson, D.D.,
who may be called the missionary to the Hinda philosophers,
to see a Fakeer celebrated for his austerities. The nails of
his hands were grown into and through his cheek. He was
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lying in the sun. I asked him, “ How can one obtain the
knowledge of God?™ His answer was, “Do not ask me
questions: you may look at me, for I am a god.” I have
no doubt he thought that he had attained, like Roman
saints, to limits beyond mortality ; but how sad was the fact,
that the penance which he thought had thus elevated, had in
reality proportionately depressed him, since the Supreme mea-
sures man by his practical might, founded on Gospel truth,
and not by his theoretical visions, based upon nothing.

At Bombay I called with Dr. Wilson on Daood Captan, a
captain in the Bombay native army, a person of immensé
obesity. He was of the Beni Israel. He was very much
prejudiced against me, believing me to be a magician, and
capable of making proselytes to Christianity by forbidden
arts. He, with the rest of his people, believed that I had
raised the dead from their graves. On my calling on him,
he was shaking his fat sides from sheer alarm. On my an-
nouncing myself as Joseph Wolff, and requesting him to
show me the synagogue, he rudely said, ¢ No, I shall not
show it you, for you are a magician.” I then muttered
something mysteriously to myself, and motioning with my
finger, I said to him, ¢ Daood Captan, you are too fat.”
He grew alarmed, and, fearing the fascination of the Evil
Eye, said, “Sir, sir! let my fatness alone.” I then said,
¢ Show me your synagogue.” He complied immediately.

Hence I passed to Mocha. The high-priest at Sanaa has
the title of Ab-Beth-Din—¢Father of the Court of Law.’
Sixty years ago there was a curious disputation among the
Jews of Sanaa. They thought that they could ascertain
their genealogy, and that they were in possession of ancient
documents to prove this; and a dispute arose among them
who was to be greatest. They listened, however, to the wise
counsel of Shalom Ben-Ahron, their Nassi, and Rabbi Ya-
hyah Salekh, their Ab-Beth-Din, to destroy their genealogies.
The whole congregation of Sanaa rose as one man, burnt
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their genealogies, and exclaimed, ¢ Peace ! peace for ever in
Israel.”

I pass my adventures at Loheyah, Massowah, and Jiddah,
where I met with the raving St. Simonians. As a proof of
the accuracy of their theology, I need only add, that I saw
a tract written by a St. Simonian to the Jewish ladies, in
which he addressed them in the following maunner: ¢ Read
the prophecies of Solomon,” (who never wrote prophecies,)
““and your book of the Prophet Baruch in the Hebrew
tongue,” (which does not exist in Hebrew). In Jiddah it is
said the mother of mankind lies buried : outside the gate of
Jiddah they show the tomb of Eve. Jiddah is an Arabic
word, and means grandmother,—namely, Eve. Jiddah con-
tains sixty thousand inhabitants. It is the great passage
town to Mecca, and seventy-two thousand pilgrims go thi-
ther annually: if the number be less, the angels fill up the
vacancies, according to Muhammedan tradition. Every pil-
grim casts seven little stones at the devil, and sixteen against
the devil’s two children. The reason of this hard usage of
the children is not very apparent.

From Jiddah I embarked for Suez, after I had visited
Cairo, and went thence to Alexandria. I arrived from thence
at Malta, on March the 20th, 1834. There I remained the
greater part of 1834 and 1835, preparing my travels from
1831 to 1834 for publication.
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CHAPTER II.

Embarks from Malta for England, March 1835. I.eaves England for
another Mission, October 1835. Proceeds to Malta— Alexandria—
Rosetta—Cairo. From Cairo to Mount Sinai. Monastery of 8t.
Catharine—Trappist M. J. de Geramb. March 29th, 1836, at Tor—
thence to Suez. Embarks for Jiddah. Proceeds to Mosawah on the
African coast. Adventures in Abyssinia—Languages, Chronology, and
Religion of that Country. Zaasega—Tigre—Axum—Gondar—Mount
Senafe—Mount Halay. Return to Jiddah. Jeisaun—Beduins. Beni
Hobab. Shereef Aboo Mesameer—his Cruelty. Loheya. Ibrahim
Pasha. Saneef. Proceeds to S8anas. Meets with the Rechabites—
their kind treatment of him. Saves the Caravan from being pillaged.
Jews of Yemen. Sanaa—beaten by the Wahabites. Reaches Mocha—
attacked with Typhus fever. Embarks for Bombay—proceeds thence
to the United States of North America. New York—enters the
Anglo-catholic Church—ordained Deacon by Bishop Doane. Indians
not proved to be Descendants of the lost Ten Tribes. Leaves New
York, 2nd of January, 1838. Arrives in England—receives Priest’s
Orders of the Lord Bishop of Dromore—takes the Incumbency of
Linthwaite, Yorkshire.

IN March, 1835, I embarked for England in the Firefly,
where I staid till October; but returned to Malta by the 19th
for another missionary tour. The first place that I arrived
at was Alexandria. There I met, among numerous other
individuals, my old friend the celebrated Boghos Y oussuf
Bey, the Armenian, the prime-minister to Muhammed AL.
Mr. Salt saved him in the very nick of time, for Muhammed
Ali had bagged him; he was already ;in the sack, with safe
orders for a sufficient allowance of Nile water for the re-
mainder of his life, when the order was countermanded, and
by the wonderful vicissitudes of oriental fortunes, he became
the prime favourite of the Pasha.
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I passed thence, vid Rosetta, to Cairo, where I took into
my service an Armenian from Tiflis, a most consummate
rascal, Bethlehem by name, who had been in the employ of
Oubia, the chief of Simean and Tigre in Abyssinia. Of this
worthy, Oubia, the interesting work of Major Harris on Shoa
gives a good account. This fellow Bethlehem promised to
carry me through Abyssinia on his head. He had been sent
by Oubia to procure an Aboona from the Kopts; but the
Kopts would not send one without the usual fee of six
thoueand dollars. By the way, Monsieur Fresnel, a gentle-
man of high oriental acquirements, whom I met there, had
married an interesting girl, that I learnt, to my astonishment,
was once of the Galla tribe. The chief rabbi of Cairo came
this time to see me. He told me, at the beginning of his ad-
dress, that my having been ten times in Egypt with the same
leading object,—proving Jesus to be the Messiah, had cer-
tainly produced an effect upon them, for it looked both like
pertinacity and sincerity. They received the exposition of
my views most kindly ; but the rabbi said at the last, that his
nation would only be convinced by the actual presence of
Jesus in glory.

I left Cairo on the 10th of March, and on the 16th set out
for Mount Sinai for the second time. On the 18th I reached
Khorandal. The Beduins received me most cordially. Sheikh
Hassan introduced his wife to me, that I might bless her, for
she was barren. He told me he had married four wives, and
divorced three for this cause, but this one he sincerely loved.
She, however, often threatens him that she will tear out his
beard if he takes another wife. I next visited the convent on
Mount Horeb, the monastery of St. Catherine. They all re-
ceived me well. This time I noted in the ¢ Book of Strangers®
the following lines, written by the celebrated Trappist Ge-
ramb: “I arrived here, Feb. 25th, 1833, at the convent of
Mount Sinai. On the 28th I lay with my face in the dust
on the holy mountain. The Eternal, in his mercy, gave to
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Moses, the most ancient of historians, the sublimest of phi-
losophers, and the wisest of legislators, this law, the necessary
foundation for our own. Quitted March 3rd. Marie Joseph
de Geramb.”

March 29th, 1836, I proceeded thence to Tor. I must not
omit to mention that I received at Mount Sinai the promised
book of Johannes Stauros, a Jew from Bulgaria, converted to
Christianity. I read it with great delight; and I perceived
that he, like myself, held in a personal reign of Christ. It is
also very remarkable, that the monks who had read the book
were quite prepared for my view of the question, and them-
selves entertained it after having carefully read the book.
They remarked to me that the 3rd chapter of Habakkuk was
a prophecy predicting the final coming of Christ in glory;
and they read with great enthusiasm the words, ¢ God came
from Teman, and the Holy One from mount Paran. Selah.
His glory covered the heavens, and the earth was full of his
praise. Before Him went the pestilence, and burning coals
went forth at his feet. He stood, and measured the earth:
He beheld, and drove asunder the nations; and the everlast-
ing mountains were scattered, the perpetual hills did bow.”
The superior struck the earth with great animation, exclaim-
ing, ¢ On this spot mighty events shall yet be seen.” I cannot
endure the manner in which I hear travellers speak of this
Hospice of the desert. These monks are excellent people.

A mission for Arabs ought to be established upon Mount
Sinai. The missionary might either lodge in the convent of
St. Catherine, or in the village called Tor, the ancient Elim:
from thence he might make excursions to Akaba and Petra.
At Suez, also, a mission might be established.

I reached Suez on April the 6th, 1836, to embark there
by the Hugh Lindsay, expected from Bombay, for Jiddah.
While there, Koodsee Manoole, the British agent, at whose
house I resided, and several of the Greek priests, had inter-
views with me. Some of their strange traditions affected me
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much ; one was, that Satan was not convinced that Jesus was
the Son of God until he had seen the curtains in the Temple
rent, the sun darkened, and the earth convulsed. My ser-
vant, Bethlehem, in some discussions that took place about the
authority of councils, made a judicious remark on one, that
s for his part he could not profess himself wiser than three
hundred and eighteen Fathers of the church.” One can
perceive by these remarks of the Eastern Christians, that they
have a high respect for ancient councils; and of this we can
as little deprive them as we could the Lutherans of their
Augsburg Confession, the Church of England of her Thirty-
nine Articles, or the Kirk of Scotland of the Westminster
Confession.

I embarked in the Hugh Lindsay on the 6th May. Singu-
lar to say, Mr. Hugh Lindsay was my fellow-passenger in the
same ship, which bears his father’s name, in 1834, when he
came from China: we reached Jiddah on May 11th. I found
the Simonians infinitely wilder than on my last visit, advo-
cating a community of women, aund that ships ought to be
manned with women. One Saint Simonian woman married
four Frenchmen at the same time; and even the Turkish
governor was so scandalized, that he protested against such
abomination in one of their holy cities. Here I found a letter
from my interesting friend Dr. Charles Ovenden. He after-
wards proceeded to the camp of Khursheed Pasha, fell ill, and
on my return from Abyssinia I called on him in his last ill-
ness. He exclaimed, * God be praised, you are come ! Decar
Mr. Wolff, pray with me.” I remained with him —read to
him ; he expressed deep repentance for all his sins, gave me
the direction of his father in Euniskillen, and died. At
Jiddah I met the English travellers Messrs. Bayley and
Ormsby. I considered Mr. Ormsby an extremely sensible
gentleman. Here I found Hadara, an Abyssinian, and pro-
fited by his acquaintance to learn Amharic previous to
entering Abyssinia.
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1 left Jiddah for Mosawah, on the African coast, where I
arrived on the 30th May, 1836. Here they speak the purest
Ethiopic. The governor of this place told me that there are
four great Sheikhs in the world, as there are four quarters of
the world ; that every Sheikh had forty bodies. Thirty-nine
bodies go for nothing, with which he may commit every
crime; but with the fortieth he must serve God. On quit-
ting Mosawah, my servant Bethlehem gave me to understand
that he was an Abyssinian gentleman, and could no longer
act as my servant, but as my escort. No help for this; so I
bore it patiently. ‘

The 5th of June we reached Eylet, and thence proceeded
to a place inhabited by the Shiho. Our guide was the
nephew of the chief who governs the Arabs at Mosawah,
called Nayeb, (Licutenant). Here Hadara fired at a wolf
which charged us, and he sheered off. Elephants wander
about here in great numbers: tigers, also, are not uncom-
mon. We ascended the mountains of Hamazien on the 7th,
and reached Asmara on the 9th. The customs of the Abys-
sinians are peculiar. Their churches resemble synagogues:
they are all round buildings. In the first and outer apart-
ment, the congregation sit and pray. There is another
smaller division, answering to the Holy of Holies, where the
priest enters. They kiss the door-posts on entering the
church, put off their shoes, and pray silently. The priests
are dressed in white, like the ancient Levites. When the
Abyssinian women grind meal, they make bare the leg and
the thigh, and have their children on their backs. Every
Abyssinian has but one legal wife granted to him by the
church ; other women are concubines; nor is divorce allowed.
They baptize by immersion, and circumcise on the eighth day.

The 10th of June I arrived at Zaasega, where I met Hyloo,
the chief of the province of Hamazien, a'young man of thirty.
His complexion was a brilliant black, and a most good-natured

smile played over his whole countenance.
D
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Seven languages are spoken in Abyssinia. The Aboona is
the chief spiritual authority. He is always a Kopt, and sent
by the Koptic patriarch of Alexandria. He ordains priests
and deacons, and lives at Gondar; receives tithes from all
property, and his income is about 30,000 dollars. To my
utter astonishment, one day while I was conversing with
Hyloo and the priests and the people about religion, they all
shouted out, ¢« He is our Aboon in disguise.” They fell
down at my feet, kissed them, and implored my blessing, and
desired me to spit at and upon them. I was compelled to
perform such an extraordinary sputation, that my throat was
completely dry. They compelled me to submit to have my
feet washed, and for them to drink the water of ablution.
Protestations were useless; but as it is a crime for an Aboona
to smoke, I ordered my pipe and smoked. But even this
would not convince them; they said it was a feint to deceive
them. Hundreds of cows were brought to me as a present,
and corn, milk, &c.: and so matters went on until we reached
Adwah. The people actually carried me on their shoulders.

The Abyssinians reckon from the creation of the world till
now, 1846 A.D., 7336 years; and the present year would
stand in their reckoning 1838 A.D. The belief with regard
to a future state in the Abyssinian church is, that after death
there is a separate state of souls,—the good in Paradise, the
evil in Sheol. After the coming of the Lord, the righteous,
they say, will be gathered to Him, the evil to Hinnom.
Adam and Eve were driven, they say, to a land called Feyt.
Enoch and Elijah are now hid in Paradise, and both shall
appear at the coming of the Lord. I inquired of their priest,
who had called on me, the Gebra Maskal, how men would be
saved? He replied, that one must first be baptized, and take
the sacrament at a certain age; use confession to a priest,
give alms to the poor, and leave off all evil.

On June 18th I left Zaasega with three persons, Mueller
an excellent Swiss), Hadara, and Bethlehem. Hyloo gave
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orders for a hundred sheep to be killed for us in passing
through his country, but we received only two. At Zaffa,
which we reached on the 19th, a fertile country thickly in-
habited, we heard the people praying in the Ethiopic tongue,
using a corrupt liturgy, full of invocations of Mary, angels,
and saints. My white appearance shocked excessively the
Abyssinian ladies: they called out when they saw me, *“ Woe
unto us! woe unto us! that this Kopt has appeared among
us, white as the devil himself.” The priests, however, saluted
me as Aboon, and implored my blessing. I replied that I
was no Aboon. They exclaimed, « Whatever you are, bless
us,” I did so. Through Kooda Falassee and Kudus Mi-
chael Onamaty I was carried on the shoulders of the people.
The singular notion that the Abyssinians know how to change
themselves into hyeenas, I found very prevalent. The war-
rior chief, one of the finest looking men in Abyssinia, Ghebra
Amlak, the length of whose hair reminded me of Absalom,
came. to me at midnight, and with tears implored my bless-
ing. I said, “ I am not your Aboon.” He replied, «I
know it, father; but bless me, for you are a servant of
Christ.” He and his soldiers carried me the next day over
rocks and mountains for an immense distance on their shoul-
ders. On July 23rd I saw the convent Kudus Gabriel. The
monks of Abyssinia have carefully kept up the memory of
their great queen, the Queen of Sheba, and Menelik, her son
by Solomon, from whom the royal houses of Shoa and Gondar
trace their descent.

June 24, 1836. We arrived at a plain called Marab, and
at a village named Behesa we found Oubia had been devas~
tating the country. Wald Raphael, the chief of this village,
supplied us with a goat. I demanded of him and his people
how they punished crimes? They replied, by hangiag, cru-
cifying, and stoning; by the infliction of forty stripes save
one; and the bodies of criminals were given to the beasts of
prey. I gave Wald Raphael three Amharic Testaments and

n2



36 NARRATIVE OF THE MISSION

a Psalter. The great saint of Abyssinia, Tekla Haymanot,
made such an impression on the Devil by his preaching, that
he actually became a monk forty years. ¢ Cucullus non
facit monachum,” is certainly true in this instance. Tekla
Haymanot stood forty years upon one place, praying, until he
broke his leg. Twenty-four elders, more modern traditions
say, surround the throne of God with censers in their hands,
and Tekla Haymanot is the twenty-fifth. He had six wings
like angels. .

25th June we arrived at a beautiful village called Shahagee,
where my servant Bethlehem told me that, unless I disbursed
two thousand dollars, be would get me murdered. I instantly
dismissed him.

I arrived at Adwabh, the capital of Tigre, June 26th, 1836,
where I met Gobat, the missionary. With him I determined
to return to Jiddah, for he was very ill. July 26th, I took
a dozen of Psalms and Testaments, and went with them to a
convent, Abba Kareema, five miles east of Adwah. Here re-
sided one hundred monks, with their superior. ' I observed
the scriptural usage here of pouring water over the hands.
The younger priest in a cottage, (for the monks dwell in cot-
tages, two by two,) poured water over the hands of the elder,
as Elisha did over Elijah.

August 5th, I visited Axum, the holy city of the Abys-
ginians, which even the Galla chief that had invaded the
country dared not enter, but dismounted from his steed and
fell on his face at the sight of it. It is the city of refuge
for all criminals. Rupell has given an excellent account of
this place.

- The utility of convents in the middle ages is abundantly
apparent, since even the Vandals who invaded Europe never
approached those sacred places, from a reverence for their
sanctity. Thus did the monks transmit to us, by their own
immunity from surrounding evil, the sacred oracles. Much
effusion of blood is daily prevented by the monks in Abys-
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sinia, as it was by the Christian monks in the middle age,
and is also by the derveeshes of the Muhammedans. The
influence of the monastic character is very remarkable over
these periods. When the Swiss, in the time of the Emperor
Sigismond, were at variance, neither the bishop of Constance
nor the ambassadors of the Emperor were able to re-establish
peace. The diet was already on the point of dissolving, and
the cantons rushing to civil war, when suddenly the hermit
Nicholas Von der Flue, who passed by the name of Brother
Klaus, commanded peace in the name of Christ crucified, and
was instantly obeyed. No traveller could wander in Tark-
istaun, if the Khaleefa of Mowr would not take the defence-
less pilgrim under his protection. What could the great
Athanasius have done when flying from the fury of the
Arians, if he had not found an asylum in the Thebais among
the pious hermits who lived there under the directions of St.
Anthony, and made the deserts resound with doxologies to
the Son of God ? .

The church is magnificent. Fifty priests and two hun-
dred monks reside around it. I circulated here gratis many
copies of the Psalms of David and the New Testament.
Pilgrims came to Axum from Shoa, Gojam, and all parts of
Abyssinia. Columns of immense size are standing at Axum,
and on my demanding who built them, they answered, Shem,
Ham, and Japheth. Of the kingdoms of Abyssinia, Shoa is
the best regulated: the report that reached me of our new
ally, Sahela Selassee, was, that he possessed great political
talents, and was beloved by his subjects. His country was
surrounded by the Gallas, with whom he preserved friendly
relations, and thereby prevented the invasion of his country
by the Amhara people. Gondar is the capital of this latter
kingdom: Here also’ exists a descendant of the house of
Solomon, but in great poverty, for his knights have divided
the country among them. Ras Ali, a Galla chief, plunders
Goudar at his pleasure.



38 NARRATIVE OF THE MISSION

Quitting Adwah on the 1st September, with Gobat and
his family, and Andreas Mueller and Hadara, 1 proceeded to
Mount Senafe, which I reached on the 10th, The Abys-
sinians were then celebrating their new-year’s day, called
Kuddees Yohanna (Holy John), in commemoration of John
the Baptist. Women, men, children, and beasts are baptized
on that day. 12th September I reached Halay, the highest
mountain in Abyssinia, twelve thousand feet above the level
of the sea. .

October 2nd I arrived at Jiddah. Gobat embarked for
Kosseyr, whilst I remained behind, as my services were no
longer required to protect him. Here I determined to set
out to see the Rechabites around Sanaa, previous to my
return to Abyssinia. Passing Lyt for the second time, where
my leaving a Bible on the tomb of a buried saint created such
terror through the whole country that the book was sent to
Mecca, T came, October 14th, to Confoodah, where I had a
most interesting conversation with the soldiers of the Pasha’s
army, and Ahmed, an officer in that body, formerly a der-
veesh. When Ahmed demanded of me whether Saheb Ze-
maan (the Lord of the Age) must not arrive before Jesus at
his second coming? I replied, ¢ Elijah the prophet shall first
come ;™ and should have continued the disputation, which had
already extended to some length, but for the drum beating to
muster. This coming of Elijah is denied by the greater part
of the Protestants. I refer for confirmation of my opinions to
Augustin, T'reatise, iv. 1; John i. 20,—¢ Art thou Elias?
He answered, No.” 1 view John as the forerunner of Christ
in one coming, Elias in another. John had the same Holy
Ghost as Elias, therefore stood in the spirit and power of
Elias. But as Elias must come, and as this is expressly
declared, it must be at the second coming.

October 19th we arrived at Jeisaun, a miserable bay for
ships, inhabited by Beduins. Here one of the Arab sheikhs
of the tribe of Hobab, brother-in-law of Moses, called on me.
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He knew Hebrew exceedingly well; and even the Arabic
dialect of the children of Hobab is mixed with Hebrew
phrases from the book of Moses. They observe outwardly
the Muhammedan law, but inwardly are attached to the law
of Moses.

It is a remarkable fact, that among all nations where reli-
gion is enforced by the civil law, sects will arise, who, if I
may so express myself, have two religions; one outwardly
observed to avoid exclusion from civil privileges, and the
other the religion of the heart, and which they practise in
secret. 'Thus, for instance, the very Beni Hobab of whom
we have spoken, confirm this; the Shamseea (worshippers of
the sun), in Mesopotamia, outwardly profess Muhammedan-
ism, and in secret are worshippers of the sun. The Daoud-
dee, or the believers in the divinity of king David, among the
Bakhtyaree in Persia, the Georgians in Bokhara, though for
centuries resident there, inwardly are Christians, outwardly
Muhammedans. Full sixty thousand Jews in Spain are out-
wardly Roman Catholics, but regularly meet in secret, and
exclaim, ¢Hear, Isracl! the Lord our God is one Lord,”
which expression forms their pass-word with each other; and
I was struck with amazement to find even in the United
States of North America, that many of the Indians, especially
among the Cherookees, have adopted outwardly the Pro-
testant religion, in order, as they hope, to prevent Congress
from sending them further into the interior.

He informed me, that near Sanaa the other branch of the
children of Hobab were encamped, i. e., the Beni Arhab,
children of Rechab. A great number of their tribes came
down from the mountain Seir. They related to me the his-
tory of Moses, of his wandering in the deserts under the gui-
dance of Hobab, who at last refused to go further. “Do you
know,” said they to me, “ Moosa, the prophet of God? The
peace of God be upon him! Hobab, our father, was his
brother-in-law.”
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- Shereef Ahmood Aboo Mesameer, of the tribe of Hobab,
governed in the mountain of the Aseer, for Jeisaun is at the
foot of the mountain. He punished criminals by putting a
nail in their forehead, and therefore received the name of
Aboo Mesameer, ¢ the father of nails.” I give one anecdote
as characteristic of the man.

One of the Banians, or Indian merchants, went one day, by
land, from Hodeydah to Aboo Areesh. He was attacked by
robbers, who said, ‘“Give up your property.” He replied
“I am in possession of dollars belonging to Ahmood Aboo
Mesameer.” The robbers, fearful of being literally nailed,
left him untouched.

I proceeded thence to Loheya, and from thence to Ho-
deyda, a town that contains thirty thousand inhabitants.
Here were the head-quarters of Ibrahim Pasha, commander-
in-chief of Muhammed Ali’s troops in Yemen. I do not
mean the son, but the nephew of the Pasha. With him I
held a very long religious discussion. Amongst other points
of our conversation, he advised me to direct my attention to
the conversion of Rothschild.

I had also here a long conversation with Muhammed Johar,
a learned gentleman, formerly governor of Hodeydah. The
Arabs of this place have a book called Seera, which treats of
the second coming of Christ, and his reign in glory.

I must not omit that, in a visit here to Ibrahim Pasha I
missed my way, and had nearly arrived at the harem of the
ladies. The Pasha laughed, and said, ¢“I am astonished that
such an absent man as yourself should ever have found his
way to Bokhara.” Hussein Effendi, the present governor of
Hodeydabh, is the kindest Turk I have met with, I translated
to him T'he Fridolin and the Crows of Ibycus, of Schiller.

The heat here was intolerable. How this country got the
name of ‘Araby the Blest,’ I cannot conceive; uncultivated
lands, parched up with the burning heat, destitute of all
inhabitants, save mountaineers, are, in my opinion, most
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unblest regions.  All over Yemen there prevails the singular
expectation that a mighty man of Arhab, i. e. Rechab, will
arise and become the sword of Yemen. After passing nume-
rous spots I arrived, on the 26th November, at Beit Alfake,
where Muhammed Ali’s officers had circulated the report that
his beard had become black again,—a certain token, in the:r
notion, that he was to live much longer.

After this I came to Saneef. Its sheikh and inhabitants
are of the tribe of Naasraan, 4. e. Christians, or Moonasera,
the Christianized. I requested to learn the history of their
tribe. They told me «a disciple of Jesus, Bulus, or Paul
by name, came to Yemen unto our ancestors, who had been
worshippers of idols, but afterwards became Naasraan,*
(Christians,) and therefore we have retained the name, though
we exclaim now, God, and nothing but God, and Muhammed
the prophet of God.” Others told me that a certain Bandanos
(Pantaenos) came to Arabia, and converted the Arabs to
Christianity. I demanded, ¢ Are there amy Christians in
Yemen? The sheikh replied, ¢ All Yemen, with the excep-
tion of the Jews and the children of Rechab, exclaim, There
is God, and nothing but God, and Muhammed the prophet
of God.” Paul says he went to Arabia, in Galatians i, 17.

I gave the sheikh a Bible, as he expressed a deep desire to
have one. Saneef is at the foot of the mountain of Borro,
inhabited by the tribe of Aram, mentioned in Genesis x. 23.
Its inhabitants are Wahabites. They desired Bibles, and I
gave some to them.

I left Saneef on November the 29th, and proceeded on the
road to Sanaa, which I learnt was besieged by the Rechabites.
Of course the caravan with which I was travelling ran no
small risk on this account. I therefore took a mule and went
on alone to Sanaa, desiring the chief of the caravan to wait
until he heard from me. As soon as I had passed Matna, I .

® And besides this, many Arabs went to the pillar of Simon Stylites, and
he preached to them the Gospel; and thus it spread in Yemen.
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saw a swarm of the Rechabites rushing to me, exclaiming,
¢« Hoo, hoo, hoo!™ Holding up my Bible, I stopped them at
once, and they shouted, “ A Jew, a Jew!” We dismounted,
and, sitting down, I told them that I saw, twelve years ago,
one of their nation in Mesopotamia, Moosa by name. They
inquired, ¢ Is your name Joseph Wolff 7™ ¢ Yes,” I
replied. They then embraced me. They were still in pos-
session of the Bible I gave to Moosa, twelve years before my
arrival in Yemen.

I spent six days with the children of Rechab, (Beni Arhab).
They drink no wine, plant no vineyards, sow no seed, live in
tents, and remember the word of Jonadab the son of Rechab.
With them were children of Israel of the tribe of Dan, who
reside near Yerim in Hatramawt, who expected, in common
with the children of Rechab, the speedy arrival of the Messiah
in the clouds of heaven. Neither party now offers sacrifice.
They requested me to remain among them, and teach them
the doctrine of the Messiah, as they called the Gospel, and to
marry one of the daughters of Rechab. The children of Re-
chab say, *“We shall one day fight the battles of the Messiah,
and march towards (Kuds) Jerusalem.” They are the
descendants of those whom the Muhammedans call Yehood .
Khaibar, who defeated Muhammed in several battles; but
they were at last themselves defeated, for they had sinned, and
the Lord of Toor (Sinai) was not with them. I sent them to
the chief of the caravan to fetch about eighty Hebrew Bibles
and Testaments, which I gave them. One of their party,
Looloé, belonging to the powerful tribe of Hamdan, a friend
of the Beni Arhab, escorted me and the whole caravan safely
within the gate of 8anam, where I entered in the month of
December.

Sanaa is called Uzal, (Gen. x. 27,) and exhibits a mag-
nificent spectacle to the eye. It is in a valley surrounded
by four mountains. The city has the loveliest of gar-
dens, which furnish pomegranates, grapes, and cherries. The
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houses are of stone, four stories high, with terraces to walk on
in the cool of the day. Here they show us a very ancient
house in ruins, called Kaser S8aum, the college of Shem, the
son of Noah. The Imaum, or prince, resides in a splendid
palace, built in a Gothic style resembling a fortress. He has
eight other palaces. Like the Deys of Tunis, and formerly of
Algiers, he seldom leaves his palace, and is always afraid of a
revolt of his soldiers. He received me very kindly, made me

*a present of a shawl, a robe of honour, and twenty dollars,
for effecting the entry of the caravan. T regret to say he is
drunk from morning to night, and the Jews of Sanaa furnish
him with brandy and wine. He was sitting on a divaun when
I entered, surrounded by black slaves: he is completely
black,~—as black as a Beduin. He is a man of no talent or
energy. He invited me to stay at his palace; but I declined
his offer, and took up my abode with the Banians, or mer-
chants from India.

Here I may as well notice the Jews of Yemen generally.
While at Sanaa, Mose Joseph Alkaree, the chief rabbi of the
Jews, called on me. He is an amiable and sensible man.
The Jews of Yemen adhere uniquely to the ancient interpre-
tation of Scripture in the passage Isaiah vii. 14, “a virgin
shall conceive ;” and they give to the ;imby the same interpre-
tation, virgin, that the Christians do, without knowing the
bistory of Jesus. Rabbi Alkaree asserted, }:hat in Isaiah lifi.
the suffering of the Messiah is described as anterior to his
reign in glory. He informed me that the Jews of Yemen
pever returned to Jerusalem after the Babylonish captivity;
and that when Ezra wrote a letter to the princes of the cap-
tivity at Tanaan, a day’s journey from Sanaa, inviting them
to return, they replied, “Daniel predicts the murder of the
Messiah, and another destruction of Jerusalem and the tem-
ple; and therefore we will not go up until He shall have
scattered the power of the holy people, until the thousand two
hundred and ninety days are over.” I demanded, ¢ Do you
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consider these days to be literal days?” The Alkaree re-
plied, ¢ No; but we do expect the coming of the Messiah,
from the commotions now going on in Yemen. We think he
begins to come from Teman, i. e. Yemen; for you see the
tents of Cushan are now in affliction, and the curtains of Mi-
dian tremble. There is now war in the wilderness, unprece-
dented in our memory. There are twelve gates at Sanaa.
As soon as one of them, the Bab Alastraan, which is always
kept closed, is opened, we expect Him. Rechab and Ham-
dan are before it.” I then expounded Isaiah liii., and read
him the holy history of Jesus. He said, ¢ Your exposition is
in better agreement with the ancient interpretation: I ap-
prove it much more than that of our nation, which ascribes
the passage to Josiah.” This kind Jew assisted me in the dis-
tribution of Testaments among his people. Sanaa contains
fifteen thousand Jews; in Yemen they amount to twenty
thousand. I conceive the total population of the Jews,
throughout the world, amounts to ten millions. I baptized
here sixteen Jews, and left them all New Testaments.

A fever seized me while at Sanaa. I left it, and slept the
first night with Sheikh Ali, of Looloé, of the tribe of Ham-
dan. We passed Matria. At Khames, a band of the Waha-
bites, whom I mentioned above, rushed down from the moun-
tain, exclaiming, ¢ The books you gave us do not contain the
name of Muhammed.

W. «“You ought now, then, as the name is not in that
holy book, to come to some decision.”

. Wahabites. “ We have come to a decision;” and saying
this they horsewhipped me tremendously, and rode off, say-
ing, ¢ This is our decision.”

Joseph Ben Alnataf, a Jew, accompanied me hence to
Mocha. Numbers of soldiers came down from the mountains
to fight against the troops of Muhammed Ali. They de-
manded seventy dollars of me.

W. I am an English subject.”
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Soldiers. “In Yemen we know not the name of an Eng-
lishman. In Yemen we know only Allah waala illa Allah,
% Muhammad Rasool Allah, (God, and nothing but God,
and Muhammed the prophet of God). For infidels we have
three things, tribute, death, and kalima (confession of faith).”
I yielded, and gave my last penny.

I reached Mocha, by the mercy of God, towards the end
of December, and set out again for Abyssinia, but caught a
typhus fever at Hodeydah, where its kind governor and
Monsieur Devaux for six weeks tended me most affectionately.
Finding myself too weak to recross Abyssinia, I embarked in
the Hugh Lindsay for Bombay.

I then recovered, and determined to set out thence to the
United States of America. A Swedish vessel, the 4malia,
received me. We stopped at St. Helena, where I lectured on
the second coming of Christ. The kindness of Major-general
Middlemore and all his family, and Colonel Trelawny, I shall
ever gratefully remember. I arrived in New York in the
month of August, 1837. Here I found myself surrounded
with a phalanx of friends, of all religious denominations. I
lectured in the Tabernacle on the personal reign of Christ,
and the restoration of the Jews. I was here introduced to
Bishop Doane, and arrangements were speedily made for my
reception into the episcopal church. Doctors Henderson and
Chapman examined me in ecclesiastical history, the Articles
of the Church, Hebrew and Greek, as well as natural theo-
logy and philosophy. By this worthy bishop of New Jersey
I was ordained deacon, and then preached at Philadelphia,
Washington, and Baltimore, repeatedly. On the motion of
John Quincy Adams, I received permission to give a lecture
in the Congress Hall, in presence of all the members of Con-
gress of both houses, the bishop of Virginia, and the clergy
and citizens of Washington. I had the same honour con-
ferred on me by the government of New Jersey and Penn-
sylvania.
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It will naturally be asked what I think of that extraordi-
nary question lately so much mooted in Europe and America,
and so much connected with my own researches, —¢* Whether
the Indians spring from the Ten Tribes of the Dispersion?™
With respect to ancient tradition, the rule of Vincentius
Lirinensis, though not infallible, is one of the best criteria:
¢ What has always been believed, by all, and every where.”
This is not traceable in the Indians. They have not at all
times and in all places, and all conjointly affirmed, ¢« We are
the Ten Lost 'L'ribes of the Dispersion.” On the contrary,
they know nothing of any such tradition. I trace no remark-
able affinities in their language to lead to such a conclusion;
nor are the rites among them, quoted as analogous to the
Jewish, sufficient to justify this conclusion. I am sure all
nations will be found connected with the Jewish, as the great
centre of spiritual worship. All rites will be found, in their
uses and abuses, to maintain somewhat of the great principles
inculcated in the Jewish law ; but T am not prepared, from
such grounds, the result of a common origin from the first
parents, to affirm them all to be necessarily descendants from
the lost tribes, because, in sooth, no other hypothesis suits
the reigning taste.

People who have a preconceived favourite system, try to
maintain it ad outrance, and think they see it realized when
nothing of the kind in reality exists. Worthy people in
America desired me to travel about with them, in order that
I might convince the Indians of their extraction from the
Jews ; but this was putting the argument the wrong way. I
wanted the Indians to convince me of their origin, and not to
aid in deluding them into this notion, as I perceived many
well-intentioned people did. I came among the Mohican
tribes near New York, and asked them ¢ Whose descendants
are you?” They replied, ¢ We are of Israel.” I asked,
“ Who told you so?” and expected to learn much ancient
tradition. To my great surprise they said,  Mr. and Mrs.



OF DR. WOLFF TO BOKHARA. 47

Simons, of Scotland.” I asked, ¢ What did your ancestors
tell you about it?™ ¢ All our ancestors told us that we were
born under the earth; and a woman among us looking out of
the earth, was taken hold of by a spirit: that spirit led us up
to the surface of the earth; and there we lived in peace until
the white men came, by whom we were subdued.”

Many of their customs, besides words in their language,
and their physiognomy, rather seem to me to betray a Tatar
race. Thus, for instance, they have the word kelaun, great,
which is also used in the same sense at Bokhara. They have
nine as a favourite number, which the Tatars also have. The
Tirkomauns also play on a flute in a melancholy strain
around the tent of their beloved mistresses, and the Indians
adopt a similar fashion.

The Jews in America are of very recent origin, princi-
pally composed of emigrants from Germany, Poland, and
England. I regret to say they are mostly unbelievers in
their own law, and marry without distinction among Quakers,
Anabaptists, and other sects. There are honourable ex-
ceptions.

At New York I received a visit from Noah the Jew, so
well known for his love to Israel. The emigration of Roman
Catholics from the Austrian and German states was by thou-
sands at this period, 1838. The Leopoldine Society of Aus-
tria sent out numerous missionaries to America, to obtain
among its sectaries converts to the Roman Catbolic faith. If
Romanism were successful, it would scarce be worse than the
mad folly of some of the sectarians of America, or the detest-
able perversions of Scripture of which they incessantly avail
themselves. There are thousands of Shakers in America;
and when they are asked, Why do they turn about in a
circle? you get as an answer, * Does not the Scripture say,
Turn ye, turn ye, why will ye die?” Ezekiel xxxiii. 11. The
Roman Catholics, however, have found opponents in America
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among the Episcopalian and Dutch communities, that have
more than out-matched them in disputations, confuting Ro-
manism on truly Catholic principles. Vituperation does the
Romanists good, and raises their cause; but if the contro-
versy be confined to the great question, On what does a
church depend ? they are scattered easily. A church founded
on the authority of the Bible, and a church founded on her
own authority alone,—the great distinctions between Roman-
ists and Anglo-catholics,—need ounly clear exposition to show
which has the advantage. It is true, Rome has an authority
beyond what she claims; but as it is one which she rejects,
she is not entitled to the benefit of it in controversy. This is
the great question, the true authority of the church in Scrip-
ture. Collateral points may work into this, and become im-
portant to confirm it ; but this properly defined, as I believe
it to be in the Articles of the English church, duly and re-
verentially obeyed by its laity, rigorously followed out by
a practical energy, strong in proportion to the strength it
inhales from its nearness to the purest spring,—this will, I
believe, yet produce, and certainly has even now in part
produced, a state of Christendom unparalleled in earthly
history.

I may say, without fear of any imputation of vanity, that
I have now seen and made myself acquainted with all the
branches of the Catholic Church, and with all the sects ex-
isting on earth; and I have not shunned to sit at the feet of
the bishops in the Roman Catholic Church, in the Armenian
Church, in the Greek Church, in the Chaldean and Abys-
sinian Church, with Wesleyans, Independents, and learned
Baptists; and the result of my investigation is, that the
Church of England is the pearl of price and jewel of the
earth, and the mightiest master-piece of Bible illustration
which: the world has witnessed since it fell under the yoke
of sin.
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At Washington, I must not omit to mention the kindness
I received also from its distinguished president, Mr. Martin
Van Buren, that shrewd, clever, polished, and refined states-
man. In his drawing-room I gave a short lecture before
several members of the Congress.

I quitted New York on January 2nd, 1838, accompanied
to the vessel in which I embarked by numerous friends, and
arrived in England on January 28th. Instantly on my ar-
rival in England, in the Isle of Wight, I gave an account of
my missionary proceedings for eighteen years ; also at South-
ampton and London. Being introduced to the Marquis of
Anglesea, in whose house I dined and delivered a lecture,
his lordship recommended me to the Marquis of Normanby,
lord-lieutenant of Ireland, and to Archbishop Whately. The
University of Dublin conferred on me the degree of LL.D.
From America I received the degree of D.D. from the Pro-
testant Episcopal College of St. John's, Annapolis, Maryland.
I then received priest’s orders in Ireland, by the Lord Bishop
of Dromore, in June 1838. Immediately afterwards I was
made honorary chaplain to Lord Viscount Lorton, and after
eighteen years’ peregrination in the world, tired out, and en-
feebled in constitution, I contemplated now seriously settling
in England as one of the clergy of its national church, when
the Rev. Hugh Stowell, of Manchester, was kind enough to
procure me the situation of incumbent at Linthwaite, near
Huddersfield, Yorkshire, where I had the princely income of
twenty-four pounds per annum, collected by pew rents, and
no augmentation from Queen Anne’s Bounty. Previous to
my arrival, the Pastoral Aid Society had given eighty pounds
to my predecessor ; but as I did not apply for it anterior to
my accepting the living, and as they said Lady Georgiana
had a sufficient income, they refused to give it to me.

Here I cannot but note, that the state of the British
church, according to Parliamentary returns in 1835, viz. of

E
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nearly five thousand livings, or about one-half of the total
number of livings returned, viz. ten thousand four hundred
and seventy-eight, being under two hundred pounds per
annum, was a position of ecclesiastical matters that called
loudly for the attention of the Premier ; and I am pleased to
see that Sir Robert Peel directed the powers of his vigoreus
intellect immediately to it. Disparity of incomes in any
church, want of promotion of deserving men, create a faint-
heartedness in its members that must prove deleterious to
the church’s great interests.
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CHAPTER III1.

Quits Linthwaite for the Curacy of High Hoyland. Hears of the Imprison-
ment of his friend Conolly at Bokhara. Writes to his Family, offering
to proceed thither in 1843. Leaves High Hoyland. Receives from his
Congregation a Testimonial of Respect. Putsa Letter in the Morning
Herald, July 1843, stating his- willingness to go to Bokhara—Captain
Grover replies to it. Dr. Wolff goes with his Family to Bruges. Cor-
respondence with Captain Grover. Arrives in England—Interview
with Stoddart and Conolly Committee. Public Meeting convened—
Address of Dr. Wolff—Speech of the Chairman, 8ir J. Bryant, detail-
ing former Intimacy between Dr. Wolff and Lieutenant Conolly. Em-
barks on the Mission October 14, 1843. Arrival at Gibraltar—Charac-
ter of Bishop Tomlinson. Malta—Athens—Interview with the King
and Queen of Greece. Dardanelles.

Besipes the smallness of income at Linthwaite, from the ex-
posed situation of the locality Lady Georgiana as well as
myself were constantly attacked with quinsy. I therefore,
after a stay of two years, took the curacy of High Hoyland,
near Wakefield, in 1840, with a salary from the rector, who
lived two hundred miles distant, a very worthy gentleman,
the Rev. Christopher Bird; and these were assuredly the
happiest of my days. I visited my poor people, and there
existed a mutual attachment between us. But our expenses
far exceeded our income ; we became involved in debt from
the necessity of the case; and therefore the Lord Bishop of
Ripon, my worthy diocesan, wrote to the Bishop of London
to procure me a foreign chaplaincy. His lordship of London
promised to bear it in mind, and I left with regret my parish-
ioners in 1843. I received a testimonial of the respect enter-
tained to me by my congregation, conveyed by a piece of
plate, and we were about to settle at Bruges; but previous
to my departure from High Hoyland, I offered myself to go
E2
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to Bokhara to save Stoddart and Conolly. This offer was made
in 1842. I also tendered my services to go to Cabiil, to save
the prisoners there; but it did not appear at that moment
necessary. I then went to reside at Richmond in Surrey.

In July 1843, I put into the Morning Herald the follow-
ing letter :

ProrosAL vorR THE LiBErRATION OF COLONEL STODDART
AND Carraix CoNoOLLY.

To all the Officers of the British Army.

Gentlemen, 13, Richmond Green, Richmond, July 2.

Though a missionary and a clergyman myself, and not an
officer, I do not take up my pen in order to excite your sympathy
in behalf of a clergyman or missionary, but in behalf of two of
your fellow-officers, Captain Conolly and Colonel Stoddart, who
are at present captives in the great city of Bokhara ; but having
been myself two months at Bokhara; and knowing, as I do, the
character of the inhabitants of Bokhara, I am fully convinced that
the report of their having been put to death is exceedingly doubt-
ful,—much more 80 by the source from which the report originated.

If, therefore, one of you, gentlemen, would be inclined to accom-
pany me to Bokhara, or merely pay the expenses of my journey,
I am ready to go there; and I am fully confident that I shall be
able, with God’s help, to liberate them from captivity, with the
assistance of my Tirkomaun friends in the desert of Khiva, and
one of the derveeshes; but I would undertake the journey without
making myself responsible to the British Government, and en-
tirely on my own responsibility.

1 merely want the expense of my journey, and not one single
JSarthing as a compensation ; even in case of complete success.

1 shall be ten days more at Richmond, Surrey; if, therefore,
one of you brave officers is now ready to accompany me, or to
assist me in making the journey, let him come to me, and we may
talk over the matter more fully.

I am, Gentlemen,
Your humble servant,
Joseprs WoLFF,
Late Curate of High Hoyland, Yorkshire, formerly Missionary
in Persia, Bokhare, and Affghanistaun.
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The next day I had a letter from Captain Grover, who in-
formed me that he would provide the requisite funds, and
would call on me the following day at Richmond. Not wish-
ing that Lady Georgiana should be made uneasy about my
intended journey to Bokhara until all was finally settled, I
determined, if possible, to anticipate Captain Grover’s visit.
In consequence, immediately after breskfast I walked up and
down Richmond Green to intercept the captain, and to con-
verse with him before he saw Lady Georgiana. I soon per-
ceived a stranger looking anxiously about him, and on ad-
dressing him at a guess, found that he was Captain Grover
himself. We shook hands most heartily, and he immediately
told me that he had offered to proceed at his own expense to
Bokhara, and had been refused the only security for his safety,
he considered, viz. a letter from government, and the permis-
sion to wear his uniform. He wished me to proceed vié Oren-
bourg, as he did not anticipate any cordial assistance from the
British government, who had in his opinion most unaccount-
ably abandoned the officers to their fate. He then told me that
he would make a national matter of it, if he could not get it
taken up, as he thought it ought to be, as a government ques-
tion. He stated his intention to call a public meeting, and
appoint a committee, which would enable him to communicate
more easily with the government, and to enforce all necessary
measures for my protection.

On communicating with Lady Georgiana, she felt reluctant
to my encountering the matter, and we went to Bruges to
await the issue of Captain Grover's efforts. The circum-
stances connected with these officers I found to be the fol-
lowing. Colonel Stoddart was on a direct mission from the
government to Bokhara; Captain Conolly on a mission to
Khokand and Khiva, from the Indian government: and he
was further instructed to aid and assist Colonel Stoddart in
Bokhara, and had strict injunctions that Colonel Stoddart, in
his political capacity there, was empowered to claim his ser-

A
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vices at any period. After this, various communications took
place between myself and my friend Captain Grover, in which
he detailed the progress that he had made to carry out his
objeet, and he further published a small pamphlet, giving a
few clear and succinct details of the then state of the Stoddart
and Conolly question. This pamphlet of Captain Grover
drew public attention to the matter ; and then there appeared
an account of the death of both these officers in the paper,
on the authority of one Saleh Muhammed, who simply stated
what he had heard, but not what he had seen. This state-
ment had further the official guarantee of the signature of the
chargé d’affaires at Teheraun, Colonel Sheil. This semi-
official statement produced no effect ; and on Captain Grover
communicating with me, with a view to ascertain what I
thought of that statement, I wrote to him the following letter,
which is here inserted as illustrative of the feelings and mo-
tives which influenced me in undertaking this journey :

My dear Sir, Bruges, August 27, 1843.

I read the statements of Muhammed Saleh in the Globe,
copied from the Times, two days before you were kind enough to
send to me the Zimes, and I confess that I doubt more than ever
the truth of the report of their having been put to death; for if
such an event had taken place in the city of Bokhara, containing
a population of 180,000 inhabitants, he would not have heard
that story of their heads having been cut off by one of the execu-
tioners alone, but by the loud expressions of indignation of thou-
sands of the inhabitants; but it seems from the report of Saleh
Muhammed, that only one af the executioners made him ac-
quainted with the history. I say there would have been loud
expressions of indignation; for having been myself two months at
Bokhara, I know that the person of a guest is considered as
sacred, and the mullahs, who are all-powerful at Bokhara, would
have deposed the Ameer. The mullahs of Bokhara themselves
told me, that if the Ameer Almoomeneen (this is the title of the
prince) suspects a person strongly, he either gets him poisoned
secretly distant from Bokhara, or strangled, for they do not cut
off heads with & knife. Beside these considerations, allow me to
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give you the following account of my own journey to Bokhara
in 1831.

When I arrived the second time at Teheraun, in July 1831,
(for I was there the first time in 1825,) I called on my old friend
Khosrow Khan, to whom I had been introduced in 1825 by Sir
Henry Willock and Sir John Mc Neill. He (Khosrow Khan) sent
immediately for a Persian merchant who was very well acquainted
with the state of Bokhara, and had just arrived from thence; and
the following dialogue took place between that merchant and
myself in the presence of Khosrow Khan.

After Khosrow Kban, who was one of the ministers of Fut
Allah Shah, had informed that merchant of my plan to go to
Bokhara, he (the merchant) turned to me, and said,—

‘¢ Name tuwanee berawee,” ¢.e. Thou canst not go.

. “Tshera?” i.e. Why ?

Merchant. ““ As soon as you arrive in Khorassaun, the Tiurko-
mauns, who are cursed Sunnées, and therefore invade Khorassaun
(the inhabitants of which are good Sheaks,) in order to make
slaves of the Khorassanee, will certainly make a slave of you;
and if you should succeed to come as far as Sarakhs or Merve,
the Tarkomauns would put you to death the first moment you
should arrive there. And even if you were to arrive at Karakol,
there the governor, another Harram Zadeh (son of a ) of &
Sunnée, would receive you in the kindest manner, and then give
secret orders to have you drowned in the 4mmoo (Oxus), and the
greatest misfortune for you would be to arrive safely at Bokhara ;
for Mooreroft, Guthrie, and Trebeck Sahib, after they had given
thousands of rupees to Ameer Behadur, have been put to death
openly at Bokhara by his express orders.”

However 1, undaunted, proceeded to Bokhara. It is true that
I was made a slave in Khorassaun, but not by the « cursed Sun-
nées,” i.e. the Tirkomauns, but by the banditti of Muhammed
Izhak, Khan of Torbad Hydaréa,—people of Khorassaun, and of
the sect of Sheah, who made slaves of me and ten companions of
mine, all of them Sheaks,—made slaves by their own co-religion-
ists, with the design of selling us to the Tirkomauns; but the
very fact of my being an English subject was not only the cause
of my own liberation, but of all the Sheah slaves of Torbad, where
a regular slave-market existed, and where every year hundreds of
Sheahs were sold by the above-mentioned Sheah Khan! The
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Turkomaun chiefs who were at that time at Torbad, declared me
to be their mehmoon (guest), for whom they would go thousands
of miles to give their lives for me. They sent the Arabic Bibles
I gave to them to their mullahs at Sarakhs and Khiva, declared
me to be the forerunner of the Muhdee and Jesus, and desired
my blessing.

After my arrival at Meshed, the capital of Khorassaun, the Sheah
merchants, and the Sheah mullahs of Meshed, again assured me
that Moorcroft, Guthrie, and Trebeck had been publicly put to
death, and at Bokhara. On my arrival among the Tirkomauns
in the desert of Sarakbs, I lodged with the Jews, but the wild
sons of the desert paid me every respect; even their mullah, who
had got the Bible which I gave when at Torbad to the Tirkomaun
Sayd Neyaas, came and asked from me the fatkka, blessing! I
fixed on their tents public proclamations, announcing to them the
second coming of Christ in glory and majesty, called on them to
repent of their evil doings, and especially exhorted them to give
up the practice of making slaves of the Persians. I remained
among them twenty-two days, and so far from their attempting to
put me to death, I had every morning numbers of Tirkomauns
demanding my blessing, which I granted on condition of their
giving up the occupation of ¢shapom, i.e. slave-making. I then
set out with one single Turkomaun from Sarakhs to Mowr, and
Bokhara ; was not murdered in either of those places, though it
was predicted by the merchant at Teheraun. The governor of
Karakol gave me, according to the custom of the country, bread
and salt to eat, and tea mixed with salt, and horse-flesh beside,
and was far from disposed to give the order to drown me in the
Ammoo, or Oxus. On my arrival at Bokhara, notwithstanding
that a Jew there, Elias by name, who knew me at Bagdad, be-
haved very hostilely towards me, on account of his knowing that
I came to convert them, and declared me openly before numbers
of the inhabitants to be a Russian spy, I was treated with the
greatest hospitality : and there I learned, to my astonishment, that
peither Moorcroft, nor Guthrie, nor Trebeck, had been put to
death at Bokhara. Moorcroft himself died at Ankhoy, not within
the dominion of the king of Bokhara, and he died of fever.
Guthrie and Trebeck died at Mazaur, governed by a khan who
is a rebel against the king of Bokhara, whom the Goosh-Bekee
(visier) to the king of Bokhara told me that he strongly sus.
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pected had poisoned Guthrie and Trebeck. Now mark! a few
days after my arrival there, the mullahs of Bokhara went in a
body to the Ameer, and said : “ O your Highness! Joseph Wolff,
the Englishman who has arrived here, has informed your vizier
with frankness that the Persians had told him that we had put to
death Moorcroft, Guthrie, and Trebeck. His report agrees with
what we heard from others, that the rascally Sheahs have given to
the city of Bokhara, which is Kawat Islaame Deen, (Energy of
Islam,) the name of ¢ Murderer of Guests,’ who are considered
sacred by us. We must therefore treat Joseph Wolff, and every
English traveller after him, with the highest regard and respect,
and give him money if he wants it, in order that he may give a
real statement of our dispositions towards guests, and our scrupu-
losity in the treatment of guests!” The Ameer replied: ‘ By
my head! Joseph Wolff must be treated well ; and he will soon
be convinced that the Guzl-Bash are liars!”—and well treated I
was; and I am now in possession of the passport. I was well
treated throughout the kingdom of Bokhara, and so was Lieu-
tenant Burnes, afterwards Sir A. Burnes.

It is true that I was stripped again afterwards, but not in the
kingdom of Bokhara, but fourteen days’ distant from it,—at
Doo-ab, near But-Bamian; not by the Sunnées, but by Sheahs,
who are by far worse than Sunnées. It is true that the expe-
dition to Affghanistaun may have caused a change of sentiments
towards the English, but this would only lead to a detention and
strict surveillance of Colonel Stoddart and Captain Conolly, not
to a violent murder of them ; and if it had led to such, why has
it never been confirmed by the Chekarpoore merchants at Tehe-
raun and the Jews of Meshed ? for the merchants in the caravan-
serai of Chekarpoore at Bokhara have continual intercourse with
the Chekarpoore merchants at Teheraun; and those Chekarpoore
merchants of Bokhara, jealous as they are of English travellers,
certainly would have noised it abroad, if such a deed had been
perpetrated at Bokhara. I also forgot to add, that whilst I was
well treated at Bokhara, letters arrived from the Jews of Meshed,
stating that it had been currently reported at Meshed and Isfahan
that I had been put to death by order of the Ameer.

Now, having given you my reasons for disbelieving Saleh
Muhammed’s account, I repeat again my willingness to proceed,
if all can be arranged by the 1st of October. I get letters after
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letters, making inquiries, as if they had to confer a personal
Javour upon me ; whilst I wish to undertake the journey not for
my own pleasure, but from a sense of philanthropy.
Such being my motives,
I remain, yours truly,

Joszrr WoLyFr.

I trust my readers will not deem me too sanguine in consi-
dering the account of Saleh Muhammed, alluded to in this
letter, as false, since it afterwards turned out to be substan-
tially so; or inconclusive in reasoning, in placing the story of
the death of Colonel Stoddart and Captain Conolly on a simi-
lar basis, with respect to veracity, to that before us as to the
death of these English travellers, which also turned out to be
totally unfounded. I received, shortly after this, fresh com-
munications of the further progress of the mission on behalf
of Colonel Stoddart and Captain Conolly, and replied in the
following terms :

My dear Captain Grover, Bruges en Belgique, Sept. 4, 1843.

I am glad to learn that the project with regard to Colonel

Stoddart and Captain Conolly seems to be on the fair way of
being realized.

It would not be the first time that I have been enabled to be of
service to others, even at the expense of my missionary proceed-
ings. In the year 1836, I intended proceeding to Timboktoo from
Abyssinia, but on my arrival at Adwa in Tigree, I found Mr.
Gobat the missionary very ill, and unable to return to Europe
with his wife and child; I therefore renounced my plan of going
to Timboktoo, and brought Mr. Gobat and his family safely to
Jiddah. T fell ill after this myself, which obliged me to change
my plans altogether. The committee of the Church Missionary
Society thanked me for that act.

In the year 1821, when in the Isle of Cyprus, I saved the lives
of four priests, who were sentenced to be put to death; and three
boys of the Greeks, whose fathers were put to death, were sent by
me to England. In 1821 I established the Mission at Jerusalem,
when all the friends at home thought it was impossible.

You may make use of these statements, in case that you think
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they will be useful; but pass them over with silence in case that
you deem it proper.

After I shall have been informed that five or six hundred
pounds have been paid into the bank of Messieurs Drummond
and Co., 49, Charing Cross, and a passport from Lord Aberdeen,
to the following purport,—Itev. Joseph Wolff, English Clergy-
men, travelling in Central Asia,—shall have been given, accom-
penied with two letters, according to Lord Aberdeen’s own pro-
mise, simply recommending me to the good offices of Sir 8.
Canning and Colonel Sheil, without involving Lord Aberdeen or
the ambassadors in any responsibility, I shall proceed instantly
from Bruges with Lady Georgiana to London, to see once more
my son, who is educated at Rugby ; but I shall only stay at Lon-
don till the first October packet sails for Malta from Falmouth,
Perhaps the Colonial Secretary would also give me a letter for the
governor at Malta, and the Admiralty for the admiral in the
Mediterranean. My missionary character has been a passport at
Bokhara in 1832, and also in other most dangerous places; and
I trust it will prove so again to me, and Stoddart and Conolly,
with God’s help, in 1843.

Pray, after all is settled, ask from the Jews’ Society one dozen
Hebrew Bibles and Liturgies for the Jews at Bokhara.

Yours affectionately,
Joserr WoLFF.

I hope my readers will perceive my object in laying before
them a large mass of the correspondence antecedent to my
departure, since I trust it will produce this important result,
viz. the clear indication that my course and plan were well
and dispassionately weighed, and that no unseemly haste was
exhibited in my own conduct, or apparent in the proceedings
of any party. I continued to receive from Captain Grover
renewed assurances of the confidence entertained in the result
of my exertions, and I again wrote to him as follows relative
to a public meeting which it was his intention to convene :

My dear Grover, Bruges, Sept. 6, 1843.
I beg you to state frankly and openly to the ladies and
gentlemen of the meeting, that I am fully aware of the doubts en-
tertained with regard to Colonel Stoddart’s and Captain Conolly’s



60 NARRATIVE OF THE MISSION

being still alive; but at the same time tell them also, that nothing
has shaken my wish of ascertaining the fact with my own eyes;
and should they be dead, (which I trust is not the case, and have
reasons to doubt,) the people of Bokhara and their prince will be
struck with amazement and consternation, on their observing that
such interest is taken in England in the lives of their country-
men; and it may have a great moral and religious influence
among them. When I set out in the year 1821 for the purpose of
preaching the Gospel at Jerusalem, all my friends, among whom
was that man of God, Mr. Simeon himself, thought it impossible ;
however, I went there and preached the Gospel, and, with God’s
help, was thus the first cause which induced the Society for Pro-
moting Christianity among the Jews to send a permanent mission
there; and my going to Bokhara the second time may thus lead
to other results. Let us show to Muhammedans that Christians
love each other so much, that they are ready to lay down their
lives for each other! Yours affectionately,
Joserr Worrr.

Of the contents of this letter I am, on its re-perusal after
this distance of time, still further convinced that the prin-
ciple I then laid down, that my Mission would produce a
good result to England, happen what might to myself
personally, has been realized ; and I feel fully satisfied that
a moral dignity has been lent to England by this Mission
among the oriental nations, that will last and produce far
more beneficial results to her power than if it had been
attended with every possible success. It has, at least, de-
monstrated that death does not intimidate an Englishman,
and that he will demand from the very executioner and
butcher of his countrymen the strictest account of such
atrocities, either at the head of armies, or as the simple
Christian with no other arms than the Word of Truth,—
the Bible. I need only allude to the positive fact, subse-
quently developed in the further progress of this narrative,
that with no other power on my part than that of a simple der-
veesh, the Ameer of Bokhara proffered to send an ambassador
with me to give an account of his conduct to our government,
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though fully assured by me that my mission was not political,
and that he actually did send him. This ambassador also was
to proceed first to the Sultan, to obtain his intercession with
England,—but of this, more hereafter ; and I need not appeal
for further evidence than that, as to the utility of the noble
mission of the Stoddart and Conolly committee.

My letter of the 6th was well received, when read to
them, by the Stoddart and Conolly committee, which was
formed September 7th, 1843 ; and that body of gentlemen
manifested a most enthusiastic interest in my mission. Cap-
tain Grover was installed as its President, a most necessary
measure, as it enabled him to put himself in communication
with Government, and to demand all necessary aid. It
further emboldened me in my design, as I had then to deal
with a recognised organ of communication. Captain Grover
bad informed the committee that I was prepared to start
when 500/. was raised for that object, but that he trusted
20007, would be realized speedily. To this communication
1 repliéd, giving my plan of proceeding; and, in return, re-
ceived a letter, dated September 15th, from Captain Grover,
communicating the information that the route proposed was
accepted by the committee, and informing me that he should
take apartments for me in London near Portman-square. It
also communicated the highly-valuable accession of the hero
of Navarino, Sir E. Codrington, and the celebrated traveller
Mr. J. Silk Buckingham, as members of the committee ; as
also the munificent contributions of Lords Beauvale and
Melbourne to the fund.

About this period Lieutenant Eyre, so well known for his
distinguished conduct at Cabiil, did me the honour to send
me the following spirited and high-minded communication :

Rev. and dear Sir, Meerut, Sept. 11, 1843.
I have but just perused your letter of 2nd July last, in
which you so nobly offer to proceed to Bokhara, for the purpose
of procuring the release of those enterprising but unfortunate
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officers, Colonel Stoddart and Captain Arthur Conolly; both of
whom I had once the pleasure to know personally, and with the
latter of whom I was on most friendly and intimate terms. Had it
been my good fortune to be present in England when your letter
appeared, I would not have hesitated for an instant to accept the
invitation which you gave to any British officer to accompany
you; and I feel assured we could have managed between us to
raise sufficient money for the purpose. Even now, if I am not
unhappily too late, I offer myself as your companion, and I have
Jjust despatched a letter to the secretary of the Cabul Relief Com-
mittee, urging that a sufficient sum may at once be placed at your
disposal, to use in case of necessity ; and I am not without hope
that my suggestions may be attended to.

Though not enjoying the pleasure of your personal acquaint-
ance, I am sufficiently acquainted with your character to feel con-
fident that you are, of all men, the most likely to succeed in the
object you at present have in view. I heard much of you when
you were in India from our mutual friends D’Arcy Todd and poor
Arthur Conolly himself My own name may be not quite un-
known to you, as one of those British officers who fell into the
hands of Akbar Khan, on the retreat from Cabul, in January
1842, and who, after a captivity of more than eight months,
experienced so wonderful and so unlooked-for a deliverance, when
on the point of being carried into Toorkistan, with their wives
and families. The remembrance of my own most providential
liberation arms me with all the necessary confidence and resolu-
tion for joining in this effort on behalf of my less fortunate
countrymen, who are still, perhaps, languishing in a miserable
imprisonment at Bokhara. To be, in the most remote degree,
instrumental in their deliverance, I should esteem the greatest
happiness that could befall me; and if when this letter shall
reach your hands, no more suitable companion should have
offered himself, we might perhaps manage to meet each other at
Bombay, or some other place, thence to proceed by whatever
route shall seem to you most feasible,

1 should not despair of reaching Bokhara in safety by the route
of Cabul, because I know that both Dost Mahomed Khan and his
son, Mahomed Akbar, are interested in the fate of Stoddart, with
whom they were once shut up in the same prison at Bokhara, and
formed a personal friendship in consequence., They would there-
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fore be likely to afford every facility to such a journey as you
contemplate; and they might even feel some gratification in
seeing one, who had been 80 recently a prisoner in their hands,
appearing with so much confidence amongst them again, and
trusting to their feelings of humanity. The Khiva route, however,
which you propose, seems the most free from risk, and easiest of
accomplishment to one starting direct from England.

I will now tell you all I have been able to learn about our two
captive countrymen.

The last authentic intelligence was contained in two letters
from Arthur Conolly himself to his brother John, then a hostage
at Cabul in the summer of 1842, in which he drew a melancholy
picture of their situation in a prison at Bokhara. For four months
they had no change of raiment; their dungeon was in a most
filthy and unwholesome state, and teemed with vermin to a degree
that rendered life a burden. Stoddart was reduced to a skeleton,
and his body was covered with putrid sores. They had, with
great difficulty, prevailed on one of their keepers to represent
their wretched condition to the King, and were then awaiting his
reply, having committed themselves to God, in the full assur-
ance that unless soon released, death must shortly terminate their
sufferings.

The King was always described to us by the Affghans as a
mad and merciless tyrant, being subject to fits of insanity, during
the continuance of which all around him trembled for their lives.
This picture of him may be overcharged ; but if true, it is almost
destructive of hope.

You have, of course, heard the story derived, through Colonel
Sheil, from a Persian who professed to have actually seen the
graves in which Stoddart and Conolly had been buried. This
story has, however, been contradicted by two highly respectable
Jews, both of whom I know intimately, and whom I believe to be
honest upright men. They have received letters from friends at
Bokhara, mentioning both officers as still alive; and information
has been received from other quarters, that the two graves were
those of two servants who had offended the King. There was a
popular belief, at the time of their execution, that they were
British officers, and this may have been what misled Colonel
Sheil’s informant.

Sept. 18th. SBince writing the foregoing, I have received a
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reply to my application from the Cabul Relief Committee, who
regret that they are debarred by the rules of the fund to place any
money at your disposal, but expressing their readiness to assist
your undertaking to the utmost of their power. I greatly lament
that nothing can now be done by this mail, but I shall stir the
matter in the papers. I have just learned that my troop is
ordered to Agra, to form part of an army there to assemble.
Should my public duty in this country interfere with the private
wish I have here expressed, you will still believe I take the great-
est interest in your proceedings, and shall rejoice with all my
heart to hear of your success. God be with you, my dear sir,
and believe me, Yours very faithfully,
Vincent Evre,
Lt. Horss Artillery.

The numerous useful suggestions contained in this letter,
it is almost unnecessary to particularize: I was glad to find
that the route I had proposed seemed the best to this expe-
rienced traveller. The sufferings of the British officers, as
described in this letter, I need not say added fresh fuel to
my earnest desire to reach them; and though the character
of the Khan, which was fully realized in my own instance
afterwards, was any thing but satisfactory to my feelings, I
confess, yet had I on the instant possessed the magic carpet
of Prince Houssein, I should have immediately used it to
transport myself to Bokhara to inquire into their sad destiny,
if possible to redress their fearful wrongs. No reply could of
course be given to this letter, which arrived in England after
I had started, and reached me at Constantinople.

Nor was this the only offer I received indicative of the
deep sympathy entertained for the British envoys. Lieu-
tenant-colonel Napier, on hearing of my offer, immediately
volunteered to accompany me in the following letter :

Sir, Merchiston Hall, Horndean, Hants, August 17.

I see by the public papers that you are anxious to proceed
to Bokhara, to inquire into the case of Colonel Stoddart, and
would wish to be accompanied by a military man: Ihave been a
good deal in the East, and if such an expedition could be managed
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and authorized by the British government, it would give me
great pleasure (under certain provisoes) to have the advantage of
the company of so experienced a traveller as yourself. Believe
me, reverend sir, to remain Yours truly,
) E. Narizn,
Lt.-Coloncl, H. P. Unatt.

To resume the thread of my story: to the letter before
alluded to from Captain Grover, I subjoin my reply.

My dear Captain Grover, Bruges, Sept. 18, 1843.

I beg you to tell the members of the Committee that
I am highly flattered with the confidence they place in me, I
think that Malta will be the shortest way; therefore try that I
may be enabled to start with the first steam-packet in the month
of October, and that all may be prepared for that time. I am
very glad that Lord Melbourne and the hero of Navarino take an
interest in this matter. I shall be able to consolidate the forty-
one pounds, which are in Drummonds’ hands from the separate
committee. After the necessary five hundred pounds shall be
collected, and the passports and letters from the Foreign-office
procured for Sir Stratford Canning and Colonel Sheil, I shall be
very happy to attend a meeting at London, and state more at
large the importance of ascertaining the truth of the report of
Muhammed Saleh, which has since, according to the newspapers,
been contradicted by pilgrims from Bokhara, who passed Constan-
tinople. It is very extraordinary that neither Sheil, nor any one
from Teheraun, mentions that the report had been confirmed by
caravans from Bokhara, nor by the Jews of Meshed; and the
whole evidence depends on the too circumstantial account of
Muhammed Saleh, as Miss Stoddart lately wrote to me.

I do not like to come to London with Lady Georgiana until all
is settled, on account of the expense which I should incur at Lon-
don; for having never had a living in England, and being only
lately a curate in Yorkshire, with an income of sixty pounds per
aunum, which obliged me to leave the place in order to live in
the cheap town of Bruges, I do not like to go away from here,
where I have hired apartments, and incur expenses at London
for other apartments, until I am on the very point of starting for
Bokhara. I think that such a meeting would be highly useful.

If we find both Conolly and Stoddart dead, the Asiatic nation,

F



66 NARRATIVE OF THE MISSION

the Muhammedans, will have perceived by my inquiring after
them that the Christians love each other, and are not indifferent
at the fate of two of their drethren ; and they will exclaim, as in
the time of Tertullian the heathens exclaimed:—¢ How these
Christians love each other!’ And, further, this mission will
make the people of Bokhara apprehensive of the consequences,
and deter them from doing so again; and also, knowing as I
do, that the powerful Khans of Khiva, Shahr Sabz, and Khokand,
are (but especially that of Shahr Sabz) enemies of the King of
Bokhara, I may ascertain how far these Khans will be prepared to
take up the case, and unite with England in punishing the Khan
of Bokhara, if he should have done such a thing. Many other
beneficial results may accrue from this journey. But I repeat my
most firm conviction, that I do not believe one single word of
the circumstantial account of Muhammed Saleh, for there is
no nation in the world like the Persian, who can tell lies in the
most circumstantial manner.

1. I shall take with me a clergyman’s gown and cassock, my
hood, and a shovel hat.

2. One dozen or two of Hebrew Bibles and Testaments, and of
the Common Prayer-book in Hebrew, for the Jews of Bokhara,
Shahr Sabz, Khiva, Samarcand, Balkh, and Khokand. These
you may get from the London Society for Promoting Christianity
among the Jews.

3. Two or three dozens of silver watches, for the Grand-mullah
and mullahs of Bokhara, the Khans of Khiva, Shahr Sabz, and
Khokand. The Ameer of Bokhara shall not get one single thing,
in case he was the cause of their death.

4. Two or three dozens of maps in the Arabic characters, pub-
lished by the Church Missionary Society.

5. Three dozens of Robinson Crusoe, translated into Arabic
by Mr. Schlienz, at Malta. I distributed a great many copies of
this book when at Sanaa and Loheya, in Arabia, and I assure you
that it excited a great sensation. Robinson Crusoe’s adventures
and wisdom* were read by Muhammedans in the market-places of
Sanas, Hodeyda, and Loheya, and admired and believed! All
these circumstances I would state in the meeting, and an interest-
ing meeting we shall have.

® On reading the book which I gave them, the Arabs exclaimed, ¢ Ob,
that Robinson Crusoe must have been a great prophet!”
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Lord Viscount Canning wrote to me, that whenever I shounld
come to London, and wish to see him, he shall be most happy to
receive me. I think that it will be well to make him and Lord
Aberdeen acquainted with the contents of my letters, in order that
they may see I have a well-matured plan, and do not intend to
make use of the name of Government in my proceedings, and that,
after all, I don’t intend to rush into danger like a wild fanatic!

If I was in London, we could combine many things together,
which cannot be done so well by letter; but, as 1 have said, I
fear the expenses. My health is quite well, and so I am not
afraid, on this score, not to be able to make this journey.

Yours very truly,
Josepr WoLrr.

P.S. You should send your pamphlet, and all the proceedings
of the committee, to the Turkish, Russian, and Persian ambassa-
dors at London ; and also to Arteen Bey, Muhammed Ali’s envoy,
by which means the news will spread to Bokhara before I arrive
there, and may effect the liberation of Stoddart and Conolly before
T get there. Communicate it also to the French ambassador.

On this subject I need offer but few observations, except to
note the trouble that I experienced from a solitary member
of the Stoddart family ; but I shall not further henour that
individual, save by the simple statement, that if an individual
had been selected from out the entire world who ought to
have clasped in tears and gratitude the knees of my friend
Captain Grover, one would have naturally expected him to
have been that individual who most grossly insulted and
abused Captain Grover at the public meeting at Exeter Hall,
on my return to England! The British public exhibited on
that occasion their sense of that ungrateful attack on the
friend of Stoddart, by expressions of no doubtful character.

But I will not anticipate matters. The particulars des
tailed in this letter show, I trust, that I was not a man
prepared madly and recklessly to risk my life; but prove, I
conceive, that my plan for the mission was both comprehen-
sive and as secure as circumstances would permit it to be.

F2
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After a further communication with Captain Grover on the
convening of a public meeting,—in which I was desirous of
laying before the public my former experience in the habits of
these countries, and of detailing my journey to Bokhara in
1830, and of my curious reception in that interesting and
ancient city,—I again, on the 26th of September, announced
to him my intention of coming to England to prepare for the
expedition, and also my plan of embarkation by the October
packet of the 15th from Southampton to Malta, and that I
purposed quitting Bruges on the 1lst of October for that
object. Before, however, I did so, I addressed to Captain -
Grover the following letter:

B 1 e,
To Captain Grover. mmg‘el[?:??g:l lgg-‘men ’
You will have received my letter of the 25th, as an
answer of yours received vid Antwerp, by which you will perceive
that my proposed plan exactly agrees with the wish of the com-
mittee, stated in your letter of the 25th. I shall come over to
England, vid Ostend, on Monday, in the afternoon; for we shall
sail from Ostend on the 1st of October, in the evening. I hope
that the Jberia is a steamer, for I would not run any risk in a-
sailing vessel at this season of the year ; and in case that it is a
government packet, perhaps the Admiralty would grant to me a
free passage in her. However this is only a query. With regard
to the watches I mentioned, you must contrive that they are
bought clear from the five hundred pounds, which must go en-
tirely for my expenses to Bokhara, and back to I.ondon.
The reasons of my going to Bokhara are,—

1st. To perform a Christian act, by attempting the liberation of
fellow-creatures,—of two gallant officers of my adopted country.

2nd. To liberate a friend, an intimate friend of mine, in the
person of Conolly.

3rd. To be useful to England.

4th, To perform a promise given to the prime-minister of
Bokhara, that I would remove the prejudice from the Europeans
caused by the calumny of the Persians, that the people of Bokhara
were murderers of guests.
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5th. To show to Asiatics how highly an Englishman and a
Christian values the life of his fellow-creature, by exposing
myself to the fatigues and dangers of a journey from the Thames
to the Oxus; and thus to inspire respect for the name of an En-
glishman in the minds of the Usbegs and their prince.

6th, and lastly. To be the instrument of drying the tears from
the eyes of Conolly’s family, and his friends.

I hope, my dear friends, that there will be no disappointment,
for it would be distressing if I were to come to England, and then
the plan to be given up. There is only one disappointment
which I should be glad to learn; and that is, that accounts were
to reach you that Stoddart and Conolly have arrived at Teheraun.
This would be indeed an agreeable disappointment for me.

I beg you to express to the Committee my sense of heartfelt
gratitude for the confidence they have placed in me. I beg you
to make acceptable to Sir Edward Codrington, whom I had the
honour to know when at Malta, my humble respects, and kind
regards to the brothers of the justly-lamented Sir Alexander

Burnes.
I am, yours truly,

Josepa WoLFF.

I arrived in England on October 1st, 1843. The day
after my arrival in London I had an interview with the
committee, when Captain Grover, according to his promise,
gave me a cheque on his bankers for five hundred pounds.
I explained to the committee my reasons for disbelieving
the statement of Saleh Muhammed, to which the Govern-
ment gave credit, and detailed at full the plan I purposed
following during my journey and residence at Bokhara.
I promised to go directly thither, and on no account to
deviate from the direct route. It was agreed on between
us, that as soon as I had ascertained that Stoddart and
Conolly had been put to death, or that I should have
conveyed them safe to Teheraun, that my engagement with
the committee should cease, and that I should be at liberty
to proceed wherever I might please. The committee were
most anxious for my personal safety, and Captain Grover
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did all in his power to impress upon my mind the great
dangers and difficulties to which I was about to expose
myself; and also as to the uncertainty of my being able
to clear up the mystery, should I reach Bokhara. I gave
the committee a short account of my previous journeys to
Bokhara, of the kind manner I was treated by the Ameer,
and of my acquaintance with many of the most important
persons of that reputedly holy and learned city. My sacred
character of Mullah would also command respect, I had
no doubt; and the charitable object of my journey would,
I trusted, insure me the kindness of all. My knowledge
of Hebrew would enable me to communicate secretly with
the Jews, and of Persian and Arabic with other parties.
Captain Grover remarked, that every means would be
employed to make me believe the officers were dead; to
which I replied, that nothing but seeing their bones would
satisfy me, and these I would bring to the committee. [
expressed a wish that a public meeting should be convened,
—1lst, that the objects of the mission might be understood,
and benefit me by preceding me wherever I went; 2ad,
with a view to the reimbursement of Captain Grover, by
the British public; and 3rd, that any of the relatives of
the Stoddart or Conolly family, or others, might then have
an opportunity of showing their sympathy with my mission,
by aiding it by all the means in their power.

A meeting was immediately convened at the Hanover-
square Rooms, Major-general Sir Jeremiah Bryant, C.B.,
in the chair. My friend Captain Grover detailed the
singular circumstances under which we became acquainted;
and certainly our juxta-position as a British officer and a
Protestant divine, both devoutly and sincerely occupied on
one common purpose of philanthropy,—to which he elo-
quently alluded,—~was alone one of remarkable singularity.
I .pointed out to that meeting, that on my first expedition
to Bokhara, in 1832, a report prevailed that the travellers
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Moorcroft and Trebeck had been barbarously murdered by
the Khan of Bokhara, which proved wholly unfounded. I
indicated also my reception by the Goosh-Bekee, or ¢king's
ear,” to whom I had notified my purpose to visit Bokhara
and Balkh, to converse with my people the Jews about
Jesus, and, if possible, to trace the Tribes of the Dispersion.
Eighteen years had been consumed by me in missionary
labour. That I considered Bokhara and Samarcand.to be
one of their positions, if extant, in common with a celebrated
rabbi at Jerusalem, and that I was supported in that view by
the remarkable passage in 1 Chron. v. 26. I showed that I
was plundered, beaten, and enslaved by the Tiirkomauns,
but that such was the respect entertained for derveeshes,
that my liberty was restored to me. I pointed out the
feelings under which I entered the gates of Bokhara, the
Kawate Islaam-ud-Deen, the strength of Islamism, the city
of Afrasiab, the supposed Habor of Scripture, the rival and
supplantress of Samarcand, the place of residency of Behadur
Khan, the treasures of which are so celebrated that they are
mentioned in the poems of Hafiz,—the asylum of the Nogay,
the Jew, the Girgese, once the Hindoo Bokhara, so harshly
treated by Ghengis Khan, and then again by Tamerlane. I
entered it with my Bible in my hand, on a horse sent me
by the ‘king’s ear” I stated what I knew of the Jews,—
of their ignorance of their religion; that the mullahs were
quite indignant at the reported death of Moorcroft and
Trebeck ; my utter disbelief of Saleh Muhammed’s state-
ment, and my full confidence that I should return in peace.
The chairman, Sir Jeremiah Bryaut, particularized maay
points connected with Colonel Stoddart and Captain Conelly.
He entered on the merits of the Conolly family most feel-
ingly. One brother, he stated, had died a prisoner among
the Affghauns; another had been shot through the heart
while aide-de-camp to General Sir R. Sale; the third (Arthur)
was the object of their present solicitude. The Journal
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of Captain Conolly was before the public. He had himself
seen Wolff and Conolly together in 1832 at Cawnpore, in
a controversy which Dr. Wolff was conducting with the
Muhammedan doctors. He further stated, in conclusion,
his conviction that I was eminently fitted for the mission,
from my former experience, general acquaintance with Asiatic
countries, and strong personal attachment to Captain Conolly.
The thanks of the meeting were unanimously voted—all
standing—to my friend Captain Grover, for his chivalric
and high-spirited devotion to the cause; and Captain Grover,
in returning thanks, said that the offer of entering on the
mission, made by himself personally, was only an echo of
the general sentiments of the British army, numerous officers
having volunteered to undertake the mission—many to
accompany Dr. Wolff, among whom he could name Colonel
E. Napier, provided they were permitted to go as British
officers. Of the position which the Government assumed in
this matter relative to myself, the following letter in reply
to a communication from Captain Grover by Mr. Addington
* will be sufficiently evidential :
Sir,

I am directed to acknowledge the receipt of your letter
respecting a proposal made by Dr. Wolff to proceed to Bokhara,
with the view of ascertaining, by personal observation, the real
facts as regarding Lieutenant-colonel Stoddart and Captain
Conolly. I am to state to you, in reply, that Lord Aberdeen
much regrets that he is unable to share with you the doubts which
you express of the correctness of the account sent home by Her
Majesty’s chargé d’affaires at Tehran. The narrative of Mahomed
Sauleh is 8o clear and consistent throughout, while the truth of
portions of it is corroborated by other evidence, that Lord Aber-
deen would not consider himself justified in encouraging any
person to undertake an expedition to Bokhara with the view of
ascertaining a fact of which Lord Aberdeen sees no reason to
entertain any doubt, and which expedition might be attended with
the same melancholy results to the person sent, as those which
Lord Aberdeen, in common with the families of the deceased
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officers, so deeply deplores. Moreover, the instructions which
his lordship addressed to Lieutenant-colonel Sheil a few days
after the receipt of the intelligence of the death of the officers;
and those which, in compliance with your request, he addressed
to the same gentleman on the 4th of April and the 29th of May,
sending to him on the latter occasion a statement of the report
received from India; and in addition to these instructions, one
to the same effect addressed to him by direction of the Governor-
general of India on the 25th of March, will cause him to institute
any further inquiries which he may have the opportunity of setting
on foot, in order to relieve the anxieties felt by the families of the
deceased. If, however, Mr. Wolff should still proceed on his
proposed expedition, Lord Aberdeen will, of course, recommend
him to the good offices of Lieutenant-colonel Sheil; but his
lordship would not feel himself justified in assuming, on the
part of Her Majesty’s government, any responsibility connected

with that undertaking. I am, Sir,
Your obedient servant,
(Signed) H. U. Appixerox.

I expedited matters with all possible dispatch, and arrived
at Southampton for embarkation on the 14th of October.
While there, the celebrated authoress of the Undying One,
the Honourable Mrs. Norton, came forward to shake hands
with me, and to wish me heartily well on my journey. I
was much gratified by this lady’s attention, and I trust to
win many regards to the way of truth by those singular
circumstances in which it has pleased the Almighty to
dispose of my lot. I was also visited by a young gentle-
man of high birth and noble family on board ship,—the
Honourable Frederic Walpole, as fine a fellow as ever
breathed,—who expressed his wish to accompany me, if
circumstances had permitted him. I thank God that he
did not, for I never should wish to see any young man enter
Bokhara. If it were possible, in the present state of the
world, to conceive scenes that would justify to the full the
awful injunctions in Leviticus against the Canaanitish nations,
they are certainly enacted in that atrocious city.
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We set sail in the Jberia for Gibraltar on October 14,
1844. My fellow-passengers were twenty-three in number,
and among them I made the acquaintance of Lady Augusta
Paget, and her daughter. The first day her ladyship
conversed largely with me; on the second, the ominous
evils of a sea-voyage began to indicate themselves, and her
ladyship took to her berth. Doctor Gilchrist, the super-
intendent of the medical board at Gibraltar, also an old
acquaintance, was on board: the chief engineer of the
Sultan, Mr. Haigh, and his lady ; they were both of the
Wesleyan persuasion, and were from Penzance, in Cornwall,
and emphatically assured me that I should meet some other
good people on board. I must not omit, also, to mention,
among my other companions, Mr. and Mrs. Richardson.
This gentleman, a most good-natured personage, was pro-
ceeding to Constantinople to superintend the building of
the British palace.

My previous habits made me support the voyage better
than my fellow-travellers. I walked about on deck without
a hat, and every morning had sea-water poured over me. I
slept on the sofa in the dining-room, rarely in my berth.
We made nine miles an hour, and arrived off Ushant on
the 15th. I wrote to my dear wife and son at this period,
to beg them to pray for me, and that, by the Lord’s will,
I trusted we should again be soon united, and live happily
together én God; and if the world and the church did not
reward me, and both had neglected much worthier beings,
stilt to keep their minds fixed on Christ,—¢hat¢ Christ, who
after all he had done in nineteen centuries was still expected,
since as yet the heathen are not given to him for his inherit-
ance, nor the wimost parts of the earth for his possession.

We were off Ushant on the 15th, as I observed; and
on Sunday, the 16th, my poor fellow-passengers were too ill
to admit of my performing divine service, and matters were
not mended when we slipped into the Bay of Biscay. On
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Monday, the 17th, I gave a lecture to the ship’s company,
and at 6 ».x. we passed Cape Finisterre. On Tuesday, the
18th, I lectured again. We had then Cape St. Vincent in
sight. On the 19th, when off Cadiz, I continued my lecture.

On the 20th, early in the morning, we entered Gibraltar.
I immediately went on shore, breakfasted with Dr. Gilchrist,
and then called on my old friend Dr. Burrow, archdeacon
of Gibraltar. As soon as I had sent in my name, the worthy
archdeacon came out aud led me into his drawing-room,
where I was introduced to his two daughters, and to the
Rev. Mr. Buchanan, chaplain to the forces; and I met also
a Mr. Levy, missionary to the Jews of Gibraltar. The
venerable archdeacon expressed a deep interest in my present
enterprise, and immediately introduced me to his Excellency
the governor, Sir Robert Wilson. The chivalrous conduct
of Sir Robert Wilson in delivering Lavalette from imprison-
ment and death, and the interest I always felt in Madame
Lavalette, that sweet affectionate woman, rendered my inter-
view with him most pleasing. I could have wished that
circumstances had permitted Sir Robert to have accompanied
me to Bokhara. Were the whole lives of some men re-
counted, how far more wonderful would they appear than
any romance. The governor and his daughter received me
in a most cordial manner, and expressed their deep sympathy
in my present mission. I was also introduced to Major
Wilbraham, the secretary, who had been in Persia, and knew
Colonel Stoddart. Major Wilbraham was inclined to believe
the report of Saleh Muhammed : however, he admitted that
it would be well to come to a certainty.

The Bishop of Gibraltar had left that fortress a few weeks
previous, and returned to Malta. The Church of England
could not have sent a better man to the Mediterranean than
Dr. Tomlinson : he combines in his person every requisite for
a bishop in the Levant. Dr. Tomlinson does not sit down in
one place, and make mere excursions of amusement: he is
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quickly observed at Athens, consecrating a church there,
again at Constantinople, after that at Oporto, and soon at
Gibraltar. An English bishop in the Levant ought to be
acquainted thoroughly with the literature of his own country,
and be master of the French and Italian, and also know
something at least of the Arabic literature; now Dr. Tomlin-
son is master of all these languages, with which qualities he
unites the most essential of all qualities, i.e. PIETY.

It was very fortunate that the Lord Bishop of London
had, previous to his proposing to send a bishop to the Me-
diterranean, held a conversation with the Rev. C. Schlienz,
missionary to the Church Missionary Society, who, being
well acquainted with the oriental languages, and also the
customs and manners of the East, was able to suggest
measures, in accordance with which the bishops in England
seem to have acted in sending out that excellent prelate,
Dr. Tomlinson, to Malta. It would be highly advisable to
send Dr. Tomlinson to Chaldea, in order to investigate the
present state of the Nestorians, and to afford them relief;
or, should Dr. Tomlinson not have time, it would be well
to send there the Rev. George Williams, Fellow of King’s
College, Cambridge, who has not only travelled in Palestine,
but has taken trouble to learn the language.

We left Gibraltar on the evening of the same day as our
arrival ; the excellent Archdeacon Burrow wished me to stay
with him one or two months. He said that nobody agreed
better with him than myself in all his opinions. On the 21st
of October T continued my lectures to the passengers; Sun-
day, the 22nd, I read divine service and preached; Monday,
the 23rd, I lectured again. Tuesday, the 24th, we were off
Tunis ; Wednesday, the 25th, we sailed with contrary wind,
and passed, early in the morning, the island of Zemra. We
had before us the island called Pantaleria, thickly inhabited,
—the Botany Bay of Naples. I had a conversation with
several travellers on the necessity of faith and obedience,
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and on the personal reign of Christ, and the restoration of
the Jews.

At ten in the morning of the 26th October we reached
Malta. On our entry into the harbour, a servant of Mr.
Hunter came on board to fetch the lad Abbot, from Smyrna,
who was passenger on board the Jberia, from London, on his
way to Smyrna; but as his father, a merchant at Smyrna,
was performing quarantine at Malta, Mr. Hunter was com-
missioned to take care of the boy. I therefore wanted to go
with Hunter’s servant, first of all, to Mr. Hunter, as I had a
letter for that gentleman from the house of Baring; but the
boats were in such crowds near the Iberia, that one of the active
boatmen took hold of one of my feet, and dragged me into -
a boat different from that in which Abbot was rowing off.
Scarcely had 1 arrived on shore, when numbers of Maltese
exclaimed, ¢ Come sta, Signore? come sta, la Signora Geor-
giana ?” It was quite touching.

I then hastened to the governor. The first person I met
was the old servant of Sir Frederic Ponsonby: he delivered
my card to Captain Tidy, aide-de-camp to the governor.
Captain Tidy exclaimed, ¢ Oh, Doctor Wolff, your arrival
was expected ; I was at the taking of— (I forget the name of
the place)—together with Captain Conolly.” General Stuart
and Lady Stuart shook hands most cordially with me, and in-
vited me to dine with them at seven o’clock in the evening ;
and as the captain of the Jberia determined to stay till mid-
night, I was able to accept the invitation, which I at first
believed was impossible. His Excellency promised me every
assistance in his power. On my going out again from the
general's room, the servant asked me whether I had seen Lady
Emily Ponsonby? I told him all I knew about her lady-
ship, and that her ladyship’s countenance always brightened
up when I mentioned the name of Malta to her in England.

The general then sent an orderly with me to the admiral,
8ir Edward Owen, a venerable old gentleman. His aide-de-
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camp, Commander Bedford, knew me in former times, and
was very glad to see me; and on announcing me to the good
admiral, he immediately asked me to breakfast with him. He
had already received a letter about me from the Admiralty,
vid Marseilles, and regretted that he bhad not detained the
Orestes, which sailed two days before my arrival for Con-
stantinople; but he told me that I would arrive sooner in the
Iberia, than by the Orestes, as the latter was obliged to stop
several days at Corfu. He gave me letters for Admiral Wal-
ker (Y avar Pasha), at Constantinople; for the captain of the
Devastation, at Constantinople; for Captain Stirling, of the
Indus, and Sir Edward Lyons, at Athens. He then placed
his carriage at my disposal.

I then went first of all to Dr. Tomlinson: the person who
opened the door was Carlo, the servant of Mr. Schlienz, now
servant to the bishop of Gibraltar. His lordship received me
with great kindness, and his sister told me that she knew
Lady Georgiana and Lady Maria West, and inquired very
kindly after both. His lordship then entered most frankly
with me into the state of missions. His lordship gave me
letters for the English clergy at Athens; for Doctors Bennett
and Southgate, at Constantinople; and a commendatory letter
from his lordship to all the bishops and priests in the East.
I here append it :

Reverend and dear Sir, Malta, October 26, 1843.

I am glad to hear that you are about to proceed imme-
diately to ascertain the fate of poor Colonel Stoddart and his
fellow-sufferer in Bokhara. I hope that you may be prospered on
your way, and that, with the blessing of God, you will succeed in
your object. It is melancholy to think of such men being left
without assistance, if they are still alive; but at all events, your
journey must be productive of good. You will hardly need any
introduction in the countries to which you are going; but you are
quite at liberty to show this letter, wherever it may be of service
to you. I beg you will commend me to any of the oriental bishops
and clergy of my acquaintance whom you may meet with in your
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journeys. Praying that you may be preserved by the goodness
and mercy of God from all the dangers of the way,
I remain, dear sir,
Your faithful servant in Christ,
G. GIBRALTAR.

His lordship told me that Mr. Frere was very anxious to
see me; I therefore went out to him in the Pi¢th. He was
there with his old servants Beppo and another, who were re-
joiced to see me. I was shown, as usually in former times, to
his drawing-room ; his table was covered with books, and
memorials from poor Maltese. After a while, my dear old
friend entered the room weeping for joy, inquired after my
wife and my son Henry most kindly, and talked over our for-
mer intimacy. His speech was somewhat feeble, and he told
me that he had had at Rome an attack of an apoplectic
stroke, but his memory is exceedingly good. I stopped with
him about an hour, and he was sorry to learn from me that I
was sailing off the same day, as he wanted to invite a party to
meet me, among others the governor, the admiral, and Miss
Hamilton. Before I left him, he kindly gave me an order for
twenty-one pounds on Bell & Co., and a strong letter of in-
troduction to Sir Stratford and Lady Canning. I then took
my leave of the good old man, and went in the carriage to
Miss Hamilton.

After some pleasant chat with this delightful old acquaint-
ance (who, alas! has died since these words were written),
I next called on Mr. Christian, who wished me to accom-
pany him to his country-house, but I had no time for it.
He inquired after all my friends, and after Lady Emily
Ponsonby. I then left him; and on leaving his house, I met
Paolo, my old cook, out of service. I next went to visit Mr.
. Weiss, who was quite overjoyed to see me: he is no longer
connected with the Church Missionary Society.

On my returning to the palace of the governor, I met with
Archdeacon Le Mesurier, who expressed great joy in seeing

me. He looks as well as ever, and is as stout and active as



80 NARRATIVE OF THE MISSION

ever. There must be something in the climate of Malta
which makes people younger rather than older.

At seven o'clock I came to the governor, when he introduced
me to Lady Stuart and to his daughters; and I met at table
my old friend Sir Hector Greig. I also met with Colonel
Edward, Captain Tidy, and some ladies. Sir Hector wished
me to come back to Malta, and offered me a bed in his house,
but I could not accept it. I returned to the Iberia at eleven
o'clock at night; and as the Vernon was lying opposite, which
was commanded by Captain William Walpole, I went on
board of her, but Captain Walpole was on shore. I left a
few lines with him for friends at home.

We left Malta that night, the 26th, and experienced on the
27th hot but excellent weather: our rate nine knots per hour
on to Athens. We reached the harbour of the Pirseus on
the 29th of October, at three in the afternoon. On my arrival
I went on board the Indus, which was then in the Pirseus,
where I saw Sir James Stirling, the commodore of the British
navy in the Archipelago, and accepted his polite invitation to
breakfast. I then proceeded to Athens to see Sir E. Lyons,
and not finding him at home, called on the English chaplain
at Athens, the Rev. H. D. Leeves. In company with this
gentleman—who received me with the greatest cordiality—
and his daughters, I proceeded to the Acropolis; and on the
Areopagus, where St. Paul preached, I read Acts xvii., “Ye
men of Athens,” &c.

During my stay with Mr. Leeves I saw Jonas King, my
old fellow-traveller, Mr. and Mrs. Benjamin, American mis-
sionaries, and Constantinos, one of the Greeks whom I had
sent to England in the year 1822, from Cyprus, and who has
now a flourishing school at Athens. The father of Constan-
tinos was beheaded in 1822, during the revolution, and I had
saved him and three other boys from slavery, and despatched
them to England: one of them, Paolo Pierides, is now
a physician in Scotland, and his brother a schoolmaster at
Larnica,



OF DR. WOLFF TO BOKHARA. 81

On my return home from the house of my old friend, the
Rev. Mr. Leeves, I found a note from Sir E. Lyous, inviting
me to breakfast with him on the following morning at eight
oclock. I did so, and as Sir E. Lyons expressed a desire
that T should be introduced to King Otho and her Majesty
the Queen, and as I was glad of the opportunity, it was
arranged. Mr. Leeves, pursuant to Sir E. Lyons’ request,
introduced me to Dr. Rueser, a Bavarian, who immediately
conducted me to the Rev. Father Arnott, the king’s confessor.
It is contrary to etiquette for the ambassador to introduce
under two days’ notice, which my stay did not permit me to
give. Father Armott, on my introduction to him, told me
that he had scen letters of mine written to Dumreicher at
Alexandria. They expressed great joy that they had made
my personal acquaintance. They introduced me to a lady in
waiting to her Majesty, who was born two miles distant from
Weilersbach, my native place: we conversed a great deal
together, and laughed much about several subjects. They
gave notice, first of all, to Count Mavromichale, the cham-
berlain: he announced me to his Majesty, who immediately
ordered him to bring me to his room. His Majesty is a
tall, meagre-looking gentleman, dressed in Greek costume. I
made a profound bow, and his Majesty immediately said,—
¢ You have made, and are now making, a great journey for a
benevolent purpose.”

W. I had the high honour of being introduced to your
Majesty’s royal father at Rome.

King Otho. In what year?

W. In the year 1818, when he was accompanied by Dr.
Ringseis and Counts Seinsheim and Rechberg.

K. What nations have you visited and conversed with ?

W. Jews, Muhammedans, Chaldeans, Yeseede, Syrians,
Sabeans, Persians, &c.

K. In what state are the Chaldean and Armenian churches,

G
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what are their tenets, and does the Armenian church recognise
a head of its religion like the Pope of Rome?

W, The Patriarch of Ech-Miazin, at the foot of Mount
Ararat, has the title of Katokhikos, i. e. Cathalicus, and he
alone has the power of consecrating bishops, and sending them
over all the countries where Armenians are to be found.

K. Whose descendants are the Armenians ?

W. According to Armenian historians, they are descend-
ants of Hayk the brother of Belus, one of the builders of
the tower of Babylon.

K. Have the Armenians a literature ?

W. Yes; in the fifth century the great Mesrob translated
the Bible into the Armenian tangue: Moses Vocazer, Cho-
rinazi, the historian, and Isaac, are celebrated writers a-
mong the Armenians. In the eleventh century they had the
great patriarch Nerses Shnor-Haale, and Archbishop Nerses
Lampronazi. At present they have very clever men at St.
Lazarus in Venice,—as an instance I way mention Father
Pasquale Aucher; and at Calcutta, Hoannes Avdal.

After having given his Majesty the detail of their tenets,
he asked me the reasons which induced me to believe that
Colonel Stoddart and Captain Conolly were alive. I gave
him my reasons, and told him that I had hoped to find also
Lieutenant Steer and Dr. Balfour, who were made prisoners
in the war of Affghanistaun. His Majesty asked me where
I had left Lady Georgigna and my family, and how many
children I had ? 1 satisfied his Majesty also on this subject.
The conversation lasted a whole hour.

I was then introduced to Madame Blosco, née Comtesse de
Witzleben, a niece of Friedrich Leopold, Count of Stolberg,*

* This charming writer is toe little known ip England. I extract from
his last work on ¢ Love,” the following passage. It breathes forth the true
spirit of experimental Christianity :—

« By sufferings we begin o pay attention to ourseloes. Tribulation makes
us weary of the world; in tribulation do we seek help and consolation from
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with whom I talked about her uncle ; she announced me to
her Majesty, who immediately ordered me to appear before
her. She is really a most beautiful and lovely queen—the
very beau ideal of a queen. When I approached her for the
purpose of kissing her lovely hands, she hastened to put off
one of her gloves, and I then kissed it.

Queen. What travels you have undertaken ! What asto-
nishing travels !

W. In order to obtain a great object, one must make great
exertions.

Q. Have you found the Jews very much opposed ?

W. Sometimes; but they generally treated me with great
politeness.

Q. Have you often been attacked on the road ?

W. 1 was a slave.

Q. You must have a great deal of courage.

W. I am mostly afraid of the sea ; for there is a proverb
among the Jews in Germany, that the water has no beams.

Her Majesty laughed, and I observed, ¢ Your Majesty
thinks now that I, after all, betray my descent from the Jews
by that observation, for the Jews do not like the sea.”
God. The more one is guided by God in that school of love, the greater
progress one makes in the way of salvation ; so that holy souls not only suffer
with resignation in God, but even rejoice in tribulation also. For in it they
begin to submit themselves to God with a perfect heart,—to prove to him
their love, which increases by gratitude for his kindness who purifies them
like gold in the fire, in order that they may become men well pleasing to
him, in the furnace of suffering by the fire of love. They increase in
resemblance to that Saviour, who entered not into glory until he had suffered
on the cross. Children of God have not only sufferings in common with
other men, but they experience also in the sonl sufferings of which others are
ignorant,—the sufferings of love. Penetrated by a feeling of love to God,
they feel bitter pain and grief that he is known to so few, loved by so few ;
that even now Christ crucified is a stumbling-block and foolishness to
baptized infidels, as he was formerly to Jews and Gentiles,—~that the
enemies of the Gospel sneeringly triumph, and the believers feel as a killing
in their bones while they daily say unto them, Where is your God? Psaln
xlii. 10. Penetrated by a feeling that God loves them, the believers feel
bitter sorrow that their love to God in return is so cold,” &c.

G 2
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Q. Have many of the Armenians and Chaldeans joined
the Church of Rome ?

W. About 60,000 Armenians and 3,000 Chaldeans have
joined the Church of Rome.

Q. What religion have the Armenians?

W. They are Monophysites,®* but are a most interesting
and inquiring people.

Q. What kind of people are the Chaldeans ?

W. They live at Mosul, Diarbekir, Ooroomia, Salmast,
and in the mountains of Kurdistaun. They are beyond doubt
descendants of the Jews couverted to Christianity, for they
call themselves the ¢ children of Israel.” They have their
patriarch, Mar Shemaan by name, who pretends to be a lineal
descendant of St. Peter. Some thousands of them have been
converted to the Church of Rome, especially those residing at
Mosul, and in the village called Alkush, the birth-place of
Nahum the prophet, and also the place where he was buried.

Q. Are there more Roman Catholic or Protestant mis-
sionaries ?

W. Roman Catholic.

Q. Who have made most converts ?

W. The Roman Catholics; but the Protestants have of
late had very considerable success in India.

Q. What an enthusiastic and sincere man you are: I ad-
mire your zeal. Do you not fear now going to Bokhara ?

W. I am carried on by the object.

Q. It would be well if all the Churches were united together.

W. This is much to be prayed for; but this union will
only be realized at the second coming of our Lord.

Q. Do you expect that this will soon happen?

® A sect that believes that the human nature of our Lord has been ab-
sorbed into the divine, and so both natures are one nature; contrary to the
beautiful distinction in the Nicene and Athanasian Creeds, and the close
declaration of the second Article of our church, “ That two whole and per-
fect natures, that is to say, the Godhead and the Manhood, were joined
together in one person, never to be divided, whereof is one Christ, very
God and very man.”
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W. Yes, I do; but I intend that if I should preach the
Gospel again in Russia, not to act under the Lutheran consis-
tory, but under the Russian synod, and have my converts
baptized in the Russian church.

Q. This is well meant, but I doubt whether the Russmn
synod would agree to it.

W. I think that they would, for this was the contention
with the Scotch missionaries at Astrachan; for they were not
allowed to carry on their mission, as they refused to submit
to having their converts baptized by the Russians.

Q. Have you had much success in your mission ?

W. I was the first who went to Jerusalem to preach the
Gospel there to the Jews, at a time when the war was raging
between Greece and Turkey, and my mission there excited
the attention of the public in England to the importance of
a mission at Jerusalem. The Jews at Jerusalem began first
to inquire after my arrival into the merits of the Christian
religion, induced by my conversations with them. Through
my mission at Jerusalem, the Jews at Jerusalem, Sichem,
Aleppo, and Bagdad directed their attention to the subject
of Christianity. I also was the first who made the Jews,
resident in Persia, Khorassaun, the whole country of Bo-
khara, Affghanistaun, the deserts of Tirkistaun, Khokand,
and Chinese Tartary, acquainted with the New Testament,
and thus many Jews at Constantinople were converted through
my instrumentality ; and I baptized Jews in Egypt, Java,
Sanaa, Yemen, and Bokhara. I was the first who brought
the subject of the Jews before the universities of Oxford,
Leyden, and Utrecht, and before the Congress of the United
States of America.

The conversation turned to different other subjects, and
then her Majesty most graciously took leave, and I bowed and
went away. The conversation lasted one hour. Madame
Blosco ‘then told me that her Majesty was particularly de-
lighted with my interview with her.
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I next went with Mr. Leeves and Mr. King to see the Pre-
sident of the Greek senate, Bishop Neophytos, for the Synod
is composed of five bishops. I am sorry to learn that the
Greek Church in Greece is no longer under the Patriarch of
Constantinople. After my visits were over, I dined with Mr.
Leeves, and then said ¢ Good by.” Mr. Leeves and Mr. King
accompanied me on my way to the Jberia, but it was too late,
for the Jberia had already sailed for Syra; I therefore went
on board her Majesty’s ship Indus, and Messrs. Leeves and
King proceeded immediately to Sir E. Lyons’, where Sir
James Stirling, the captain of the Indus, was at dinner,
and Lieutenant Leicester of the Indus also went on shore to
report my missing the Jberia to Sir James. Sir James Stirling
returned forthwith to the Indus, and ordered Captain Om-
maney, of the steamer Vesuvius, to prepare immediately for
taking me as far as Syra, where the Jberia was to stay twelve
hours; and at eleven o’clock of the 31st, we overtook, most
fortunately, the Jberia, when I was hailed with cheers by the
whole ship’s crew and passengers, and then at four o’clock we
sailed for Smyrna, where we arrived on the 1st of November.
We only stopped two hours, during which time I saw Temple,
the American missionary, and Mr. Calhoun, the agent of the
American Bible Society : Lewis and Meredith were in the
country. On the 2nd of November I arrived in the Darda-
nelles. I confess that I was rather disappointed with the
fortifications, and I really believe that Gibraltar would be far
more difficult to be taken than the Dardanelles. Military
men would quote to me, ¢ Ne sutor ultra crepidam,”—*¢ Don’t
travel beyond Bokbara.” I freely confess I should find some
little difficulty in taking either.
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CHAPTER 1V.

Constantinople—Interview with Sir Stratford Canning, Doubtful reports
at Constantinople about Stoddart and Conolly. Interview with the
Chargé d’Affaires of Naples relative to Signor P. Naselli, who had
visited Bokhara. Nature of Evidence as to the existence of Stoddart
and Conolly procured at Constantinople. Official papers from the
Sultan, the Sheikh Islam, and others, Visits to Count Stiirmer. At.
tempts made by certain parties to deter Dr. Wolff from proceeding to
Bokhara. Letter of Mr. James Calvert. Interview with the Reis
Effendi and the Sheikh Islam, Syrian Church—Ephrem Syrus. Kind-
ness of Sir [Stratford Canning—His Excellency pays all Dr. Wolff’s
Expenses to Trebizond. High opinion entertained by all Parties of
Captain Grover. Embarkation for Trebizond.

Ox the 3rd of November I arrived in the harbour of Constan-
tinople. I immediately reported my arrival to the Rev.
Horatio Southgate, the American episcopal ‘missionary, for
whom I had a létter from the Bishop of Gibraltar. I was
received very cordially by him and his wife: they have two
very nice children, and Mrs. Southgate is a very charming
lady. I immediately sat down and wrote to Sir Stratford
Canning, who lives now at Buyukdere, ¢ great valley,’ a large
village on the Bosphorus, twelve miles from Comstantinopie,
and announced to his Excellency my arrival at Constantinople.
I received the next day from him an answer, which I subjoin
verbatim, to show the extreme kindness of our distinguished
ambassador : .

Dear Sir, Buyukdere, Nov. 3, 1843,
I am happy to hear of your arrival, and hope to have
the pleasure of seeing you here whenever it may suit your conve-
nience to come. Will you dine here on Sunday, or Saturday?
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We dine at half-past six. I cannot offer you a bed in the house,
but there is a respectable inn at no great distance; or if you
prefer returning to Pera at night, there is at present a splendid
moon.

With respect to your letters, I had applied for them before your
arrival, and I think you had better see Mr. Frederick Pisani, the
first interpreter of this embassy, and inform him more particularly
of your wishes.

On the subject of the steamer I am less at liberty to act as you
desire. The vessel is expected every day to move in a different
direction from yours, and before she is free you will probably
have embarked in one of the weekly boats to Trebizond. I return
you the letters you inclosed for my perusal. I beg you will be-
lieve me, dear Sir,

Very sincerely yours,
StraTFORD CANNING.

His Excellency also gave permission to Mr. Southgate to
allow me to preach in the chapel, on Sunday, the 12th of
November. On the 5th of November I received a letter
from Mr. Leeves, of Athens, of the following gratifying
contents :

My dear Mr. Wolff, Athens, Oct. 31, 1843,

I take advantage of the French steamer of to-day to do
what I wished to have done last night by Sir James Stirling, but
had not time; namely, to write you a line. You will remember
the Greek proverb I quoted to you in the boat of the Jndus last
night,—*¢ Every hindrance is for good.” So I trust it has proved
now; for your misfortune of last night has called forth many
expressions of kindness and sympathy in your honourable and
benevolent mission. When we got up to Sir Edmund Lyons’
house last night, the first movement of Sir James Stirling’s heart
upon hearing this mishap was, ‘ We must not let Mr. Wolff’s
funds be affected by this: we must raise a purse among ourselves
to pay his passage in the French steamer.” And when Sir Ed-
mund Lyons, who was then out of the room, returned, he imme-
diately closed with the idea of sending you on in the Pesuvius ;
and the thing had been fully settled between himself and Sir
James Stirling before Lieutenant Leicester came up from the ship
to make his regular report to his captain.
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I hope this may prove an omen for good in reference to your
mission, and that God will open the hearts of all men,—English-
men and Greeks, Turks and Persians, Curds and Bokharians, Jews
and Gentiles, to provide facilities for its success, and that many
good results may flow from it, direct and indirect. I reckon
among one of its good results, that I and all my family have re-
newed our acquaintance with Joseph Wolff, and we shall, I trust,
remember you in our prayers. Do the same by us, and accept the
kind regards of all the party, both %issed and unkissed.

Would you not let us have a line from you sometimes? It
would be interesting to all here; and among others, I have no
doubt, to the King and Queen, who were pleased with their inter-
view with you. And now God bless you! and prosper abundant-
ly your errand, and restore you in safety to your wife and son, to
your adopted country and church.

Yours, affectionately,
H. D. Lxzves.

Nothing could be more kind and prompt than Sir Edmund was
in putting the P esuvius at your disposal.

November the 4th, Mr. Schauffler, the missionary of the
American board of Commissioners for foreign missions at
Constantinople for the Conversion of the Jews, whom I had
sent to America seventeen years ago at my own expense,
called on me, and soon after Mr. Goodell, and welcomed me
very affectionately.

November the 5th, being Sunday, I went with Mr. and
Mrs. Southgate to church, and was clerk to Mr. Southgate.
At three oclock I hired an araba (Turkish cart), and went
out to Buyukdere to Sir Stratford Canning, by whom, and
Lady Canning, I was received in the kindest way possible, as
also by Lord Napier and the rest of the attachés of the Bri-
tish embassy ; and there I also met with Princess Mavrocor-
dato. The general opinion was, that the fate of Colonel
Stoddart and Captain Conolly was very uncertain. There
was here a Russian gentleman who had acquaintances at
Khiva, and who seemed to be inclined to believe the story of
their death ; but there were also people from Bokhara at Con-
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stantinople who related that there were two Englishmen at
Bokhara, one tall, another short and stout, and that the latter
was kept in custody by a keeper of the mosque outside the
city of Bokhara. The ambassador, however, suspended his
judgment on the subject, and advised me not to call on the
Bokharians until he had made more inquiries about them.
After dinner, Sir Stratford Canning asked me to expound
and read prayers. I left his Excellency at twelve o’clock at
midnight, after which he ordered his boatmen to bring me
on board the Devastation, for Captain Robinson her com-
mander, to whom I had a letter from Admiral Sir E. Owen,
was kind enough to invite me to sleep on board the steamer.
Captain Robinson is a most anriable and pious gentleman.

On the 6th I called on Dr. Bennett, the chaplain to the
embassy : he went immediately with me to Captain Walker,
who is admiral of the Turkish fleet, and has the title Yavar
Pasha. He knew me already in London, and promised me
every assistance in bis power. He is a very modest and de-
lightful man, and his wife is a most excellent and amiable lady.
He bad no carriage to offer me to bring me back to Pera,
where I lived with Mr. Southgate, and he offered me a horse;
but as I was afraid to mount a horse, I preferred hiring a
cart dragged by oxen, and returned thus to Constantinople.
On coming back to Southgate, I learnt that Mr. Brown, the
American chargé d'affaires, had called on me, and wished to
inform me that the Neapolitan chargé d’affaires desired to
know when be could call on me, in order to speak with me
about Signor Naselli, who had proceeded to Bokhara, whose
fate was also doubtful.

I forgot to mention that Mr. Frederick Pisani, the first in-
terpreter to the British embassy, called on me on Sunday the
5th of November, at eight o’clock in the morning, and told me
that the despatches from government in England had instruet-
ed them that all the necessary documents, just as I desired
them, should be procured for me, and that I should have them
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on the 17th of November, those from the Sultan as well as
those from the Sheikh Islam ; that he had already applied for
them, and that the Turks expressed their astonishment at my
courage and determination.

On the 7th of November, when Sir Stratford Canning was
in his palace of Pera, with Lady Canning and Lord Napier,
I had a confidential conversation with the ambassador on the
subject of Conolly and Stoddart; all I can say about it is,
that the conversation was not discouraging. He again in-
vited me to dine with him the week following, and to expound
again ; he also promised to give me despatches to Trebizond
and Erzroom, so that my journey to Persia would cost but
little.

At this period I was visited by the chargé d’affaires of the
king of Naples, who informed me of Cavalier Pietro Naselli
Florey, a Sicilian, of whom it was also reported that he had
been put to death; but this report had turned out to be a
mere fabrication, and therefore he could assure me of sincere
thanks on the part of his Neapolitan Majesty, if I could
make inquiries about him on my arrival at Bokhara, which I
promised to do.

The evidence that I encountered at Constantinople with
respect to Colonel Stoddart and Captain Conolly was of the
most conflicting description. I subjoin the following details,
which then reached me:

I. Monsieur Danielewsky, late consul of his Imperial Ma-
jesty at Khiva, and now occupying the same position at Bel-
grade, assured Sir Stratford Canning that he had seen several
persons from Bokhara when at Khiva, some of whom de-
clared they had witnessed the execution of the British officers.
Some stated their belief that it had taken place from hearsay,
and some even described their persons, agreeing therein with
the impression which Mr.D. had received from others respect-
ing their personal appearance on former occasions, before their
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labours and their sufferings had become an object of public

interest.
II. The following letter to Sir Stratford Canning was also
communicated to me.
Sir, Trebisond, August 16, 1843.
Dr. Casolani, of the quarantine department, has inform-
ed me that several natives of Bokhara have recently arrived at
the lazaretto from the interior, with one of whom Dr. Casolani,
entered into conver